

# THE UNIVERSITY of EDINBURGH

# Edinburgh Research Explorer

# Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma. **Cochrane Database Syst Rev**

Citation for published version:

Pagliari, C 2004, 'Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma. Cochrane Database Syst Rev', Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD002982.pub2

**Digital Object Identifier (DOI):** 

10.1002/14651858.CD002982.pub2

# Link:

Link to publication record in Edinburgh Research Explorer

**Document Version:** Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

**Published In:** Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

## **General rights**

Copyright for the publications made accessible via the Edinburgh Research Explorer is retained by the author(s) and / or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing these publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy The University of Edinburgh has made every reasonable effort to ensure that Edinburgh Research Explorer content complies with UK legislation. If you believe that the public display of this file breaches copyright please contact openaccess@ed.ac.uk providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.



# Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

Fleming SL, Pagliari C, Churchill R, McKean M, Shuldham CM



This is a reprint of a Cochrane review, prepared and maintained by The Cochrane Collaboration and published in *The Cochrane Library* 2005, Issue 3

http://www.thecochranelibrary.com



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
SYNOPSIS	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW	3
SEARCH STRATEGY FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES	4
METHODS OF THE REVIEW	4
DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES	5
METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY	5
RESULTS	6
DISCUSSION	9
AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS	10
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	11
POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF INTEREST	11
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	11
REFERENCES	11
TABLES	16
Characteristics of included studies	16
Characteristics of excluded studies	25
Characteristics of ongoing studies	27
ADDITIONAL TABLES	28
Table 01. Description of Psychotherapeutic Techniques	28
INDEX TERMS	28
COVER SHEET	29

# Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

# Fleming SL, Pagliari C, Churchill R, McKean M, Shuldham CM

#### This record should be cited as:

Fleming SL, Pagliari C, Churchill R, McKean M, Shuldham CM. Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2003, Issue 4. Art. No.: CD002982.pub2. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD002982.pub2.

This version first published online: 20 October 2003 in Issue 4, 2003. Date of most recent substantive amendment: 24 June 2003

#### ABSTRACT

#### Background

Many people have asthma, and for some their symptoms may be triggered by psychological factors. In addition compliance with medical therapy may have a psychological dimension. Therefore, psychological interventions aim to reduce the burden of symptoms and improve management of the disease.

#### Objectives

To assess the effectiveness of psychological interventions for adults with asthma.

#### Search strategy

The Cochrane Airways Group specialised register and PsycINFO were searched with pre-defined terms until September 2003.

#### Selection criteria

Randomised controlled trials published in any language assessing the effects of a psychological intervention compared with a form of control in adult participants were included in the review.

#### Data collection and analysis

Two reviewers assessed the relevance of abstracts identified by electronic searching and retrieved agreed studies for further scrutiny. The studies that met the inclusion criteria were assembled and data extracted.

#### Main results

Twelve studies were included in the review, however study quality was poor and sample sizes were frequently small. No meta-analysis could be performed due to the diversity of interventions and the outcomes assessed. Findings between studies were conflicting. This may have been due to the different types of interventions used and the deficiencies in trial design.

#### Authors' conclusions

This review was unable to draw firm conclusions for the role of psychological interventions in asthma due to the absence of an adequate evidence base. Large, well-conducted and reported randomised trials are required in this area, in order to determine the effects of these techniques in the treatment of asthma in adults.

#### SYNOPSIS

There is not enough evidence to determine whether psychological interventions for adults with asthma help to improve symptoms and mental health; more research is required.

It is thought by some that psychological interventions can help people with asthma. Systematically, we searched the literature on psychological interventions to find valid studies that looked at the effects of providing mainly psychological interventions for adults with asthma. The studies found examined many different therapies and measured different physical and psychological outcomes; for

these reasons, their results could not be easily combined. Furthermore, the available studies were completed with small numbers of people and the way the studies were conducted could be improved. More research with large numbers of people and improved design needs to be done before it is known whether psychological interventions are effective in making adults with asthma feel better.

#### BACKGROUND

Asthma is a condition, which is characterised by recurrent or chronic variable airflow obstruction due to inflammation of the airways resulting in airway smooth muscle contraction in response to a number of chemical, physical and emotional stimuli. It is often divided into two types- allergic or extrinsic asthma and nonallergic or intrinsic asthma. However, many asthmatics can have symptoms from both allergic and non-allergic stimuli.

With few exceptions, there is no cure for asthma. Treatment is aimed at controlling chronic and acute symptoms and maintaining lung function to as near normal as possible. Modern treatment methods rely on reducing airway inflammation and smooth muscle contraction. Drugs are titrated according to symptoms, lung function and side effects.

An estimated 5.1 million people in the UK have asthma (including 1.4 million children). Asthma is expensive, resulting in an estimated cost to the NHS in England of £850 million a year . There are also indirect costs to the economy as over 18 million working days are lost due to the disease each year. People with asthma also incur costs for medication, travel to GP surgeries and medical equipment (NAC 2001). The high frequency of the disease, and its attendant costs, have prompted the production of guidelines for the management of asthma (BTS 2003). These guidelines include medication management as well as recommendations to improve patients' self-management skills in the form of Asthma Action Plans. Most patients with asthma are treated in primary care and outpatient settings and the overall success of treatment relies on the contribution to effective management that the patient can bring to bear. This includes factors such as compliance with medical therapy, effective inhaler technique and the ability to manage psychological elements. Asthma has a psychological component, including emotion (Lehrer 1993), so the treatment of asthma increasingly needs to focus on the whole person, taking account of psychological as well as physiological elements. This means that evidence to support clinical staff in deciding upon the type, format and frequency of psychological techniques is needed. The aim of these strategies is to help reduce panic or fear, improve breathing and respiratory function and impact positively on general health and quality of life.

Literature is growing on the relationship between psychosocial factors and asthma. Bosley 1996 found in their review of studies on asthma deaths and near fatal asthma attacks that asthma deaths are related to lack of prompt medical treatment and lack of prompt action by patients and their relatives. They also suggested that there may be an association between psychiatric and asthma morbidity and that a near fatal attack may increase denial or psychiatric problems. Patient's attitudes to their illness may affect their coping skills and compliance with treatment. Because of the psychosocial effects of asthma, strategies such as cognitive-behavioural therapy (Kotses 1995), and group and individual counseling (Bailey 1990) are now integrated with educational packages about the self-management of asthma in order to improve health outcomes. Other psychotherapies that have been used are autogenic therapy (Henry 1993) and relaxation therapy (Lehrer 1994).

There is a growing body of work using review methodologies to assess the impact of a range of psychosocial interventions in asthma. For example, Devine 1996 showed that psychoeducational programmes involving relaxation and behavioural techniques improved health outcomes for adults with asthma. Reviews have been undertaken on self-management education for asthmatic adults (Gibson 2002a), limited asthma education for adults (Gibson 2002b) and family therapy for asthma in children (Panton 2002). Gibson 2002a concluded that training in asthma self-management, which involves self-monitoring by peak flow or symptoms, coupled with regular medical review and a written plan, appears to improve health outcomes for adults with asthma. Training programmes, which enable people to adjust their medication, also appeared to be more effective than other forms of self-management. In contrast limited asthma education, meaning information only, did not appear to improve health outcomes in adults with asthma, although perceived symptoms might improve (Gibson 2002b). Reviews led to the conclusion that more work is needed to elucidate the effect of providing information in the emergency department for adults (Gibson 2002b) and children (Haby 2002). Panton 2002 in their review of the only two trials on family therapy in asthma found some indication that this is a useful adjunct to medication for children with asthma.

Khateeb 1995 suggested that psychotherapy appears to have a role in the treatment of asthma. Hypnosis in asthma has also been the subject of research over many years to assess its impact but it is suggested that it is premature to conclude that hypnosis is unequivocally effective (Hackman 2000). With regard to relaxation as a therapeutic technique in asthma, Ritz 2001 proposed that more work was needed before a convincing case could be made. A similar conclusion was reached in the latest systematic review of relaxation therapies; there it was also suggested that there is limited evidence to suggest that muscular relaxation may warrant further investigation (Huntley 2002).

These reviews do not answer questions specifically about psycho-

logical interventions and therefore a systematic review of the effectiveness of psychological interventions for adults with asthma is also required. When managing patients, clinical staff need to have reliable information on whether psychological techniques work, and if so which are the most effective, for which patients. It is also important to know whether interventions work best alone or in combination with each other, and whether it is better that patients are taught individually or in groups. If possible it would also be useful for staff and patients to know what benefits may be expected, and whether they are short-lived or last in the longer term.

#### OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this study was to conduct a systematic review of randomised controlled trials and a meta-analysis of all randomised trials where the efficacy of psychological interventions in modifying health and behavioural outcomes for adults with asthma was investigated.

The specific objectives were:

1. To assess the overall efficacy of psychological interventions compared with usual treatment in improving health and behavioural outcomes for adults with asthma.

2. To assess the comparative efficacy of different types of psychotherapy for adults with asthma.

3. To assess the comparative efficacy of individual and group formats of psychotherapy for adults with asthma.

## CRITERIA FOR CONSIDERING STUDIES FOR THIS REVIEW

#### Types of studies

Randomised controlled trials (RCTs) comparing the effects of psychological interventions for adults with asthma.

In the original protocol it was stated that this review would examine CCTs (case-controlled trials) on this subject as well, however as RCTs provide the stronger level of evidence, it was decided to concentrate on these only and a search strategy was designed to include RCTs.

#### Types of participants

Adults, both male and female, over 16 years of age with asthma who have been physician diagnosed or have been diagnosed using internationally established criteria (e.g. BTS guidelines).

Treatments in both in and out patient settings were included.

#### Types of intervention

Any type of psychological intervention used in the treatment of asthma in adults was considered for this review. Psychological interventions have a long history and have been defined as the procedure by which a therapist purposively and systematically attempts to influence a patient by psychological means so that the patients' symptoms decrease or there is a positive change in behaviour (Barendregt 1957). These interventions will be delivered by a trained practitioner or in consultation or supervision by a trained practitioner.

Psychotherapy models were categorised according to their theoretical base as follows:

1. Cognitive behavioural therapy (incorporating core elements of both behavioural and cognitive models)

Using behavioural techniques to change negative thoughts mediating health behaviour. In asthma, this may address incorrect symptom attributions (over- or under-playing their significance) giving rise to suboptimal medication use, or may use systematic relaxation techniques to extinguish fear responses associated with psychosocial triggers.

2. Cognitive therapy

Identification and constructive management of damaging thoughts, such as perceptions of helplessness or inappropriate fear of asthma attack that can trigger episodes. Information (e.g. about the relationship between anxiety and bronchoconstriction) also targets cognitions.

3. Behavioural therapy

Concerned with identifying the processes by which behaviour has been learned via association, reward or observation and modifying behaviour using methods such as systematic desensitization, selective reinforcement and positive modelling. The behaviour itself, rather than underlying motivations, is the focus of behavioural interventions.

4. Relaxation therapy with or without biofeedback

Designed to control stress & anxiety. In asthma, may reduce panic or fear & improve breathing and respiratory function. Approaches include progressive relaxation (systematically creating tension and release in different parts of the body and/or via guided mental imagery), autogenic training (focuses on attending to bodily feelings and mentally controlling them), hypnosis (deep relaxation that may be induced using mental imagery, often accompanied by autosuggestion to create positive thoughts & feelings), and biofeedback (feedback of biological indicators), which the subject must control via relaxation. May also be considered a behavioural intervention since the feedback can act as a reinforcer.

5. 'Supportive' counselling

Counselling involves talking over problems with a health professional. In supportive counselling, the counsellor simply aims to be a good listener and provide emotional support, rather than offering a more targeted psychotherapeutic intervention. It generally focuses on problems in the here and now and has a short-term duration.

6. Hypnosis

Conceptualizations of hypnosis vary. At the broadest it can be regarded as a form of deep relaxation induced by guided mental imagery. In this sense it may be placed with other types of relaxation therapy. Hypnosis is also thought to induce a state of suggestibility,

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

facilitating both patients' insight into their unconscious motives or anxieties and the absorption of therapeutic messages.

7. Individual and group format

Some therapies can be delivered to groups of individuals as well as single patients. Social interaction within a supportive non-judgmental peer group may increase self-esteem and encourage disclosure, both of which may (under appropriate circumstances) facilitate therapy.

Patient education programmes were only included where psychotherapy formed the major part of the intervention. Breathing retraining, yoga and massage therapies were not included in this review as these therapies were not considered to be primarily psychological in nature.

#### Types of outcome measures

The types of outcome measures that might be expected are:

- 1. Level of severity of asthma symptoms
- 2. Medication usage

3. Lung function (e.g. Peak expiratory flow (PEF), forced volume capacity (FVC), spirometry)

4. Immune function

5. Health service utilisation (e.g. hospitalisation, GP visits)

6. Asthma knowledge questionnaires

7. Psychological questionnaires (e.g. coping skills, anxiety, asthma related behaviour scales, locus of control, self esteem, quality of life, psychological status)

8. Change of behaviour scales

9. Absenteeism from school or work

For the purposes of the review the primary outcomes include physical and psychological outcomes, namely:

1. Frequency, severity and duration of asthma symptoms

Although these encompass three measures of asthma symptoms, the diversity with which these outcomes were recorded prompted us to group these together.

2. Psychological health status (e.g. anxiety, locus of control, selfesteem and quality of life) These encompass several measures of psychological well-being, but again, there was much diversity in the reporting of these outcomes, hence they are pooled as a group.

The secondary outcomes are:

1. Treatment: e.g. doses of reliever per time period, daily dose of inhaled corticosteroid

2. Health service utilisation: e.g. A&E visits, hospitalisation, GP visits

3. Absenteeism from work or school

4. Lung function

5. Markers of inflammation

6. Patient satisfaction.

#### SEARCH STRATEGY FOR IDENTIFICATION OF STUDIES

See: Airways Group search strategy

The Cochrane airways group register of controlled trials was used to identify randomised controlled trials, see Airways Group search strategy. The register includes references from MEDLINE, EMBASE, CINAHL, hand searched respiratory journals, meeting abstracts, and from searching the bibliographies of all trials. The Airways Asthma database was searched using the following terms:

Psychotherap\* or group Psychotherap\*

An advanced search of the CENTRAL Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (CCTR) was also completed using the above search strategy. A search for relevant trials used the search terms asthm\$ or wheez\$ and the exploded term Psychotherapy.

An extensive search was also made of the electronic register PsycINFO using the following search strategy-

Asthm\$ OR Wheez\$ AND psychotherap\$ OR psychol\$

Bibliographies of each identified trial were also searched for additional papers that might contain relevant trials.

Searches were updated annually; studies found up to the end of September 2003 were included.

Authors of all studies included in the review were contacted and asked to identify further published or unpublished work. In addition researchers known by the reviewers to have conducted a relevant study and to know the subject of the review were approached to identify other possible studies.

## METHODS OF THE REVIEW

#### Study selection

The literature search identified eighty-five possibly relevant studies. Two independent reviewers (SF & CS) established whether each study met the inclusion criteria as an RCT of a psychological intervention for adults with asthma according to the above inclusion criteria. Disagreements were resolved by discussion. Twelve RCTs were appropriate for inclusion in this review (see Included Studies table).

Methodological quality

The methodological quality of the studies (allocation concealment) was independently assessed by two reviewers (SF & CS) using the following criteria for allocation concealment: Grade A: adequate concealment Grade B: uncertain Grade C: clearly inadequate concealment Grade D: not used

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

 $\textbf{Copyright } \texttt{@2005 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley \& Sons, Ltd \\$ 

There were no disagreements on ratings given to studies.

Each study was also assessed using a modified 0 to 5 scale developed by Jadad 1996 and summarised as follows:

1. Was the study described as randomised (1=yes;0=no)?

2. Was the outcome assessment blinded (1=yes;0=no)?

3. Was there a description of withdrawals and dropouts (1 = ves; 0 = no)?

4. Was the method of randomisation well described and appropriate (1=yes;0=no)?

6. Deduct one point if methods for randomisation or blinding were inappropriate.

Modification of this scale was essential as, due to the nature of the psychological interventions, it would be difficult to conduct double-blinded trials. Therefore in step 2 and 5 'double-blind' has been changed to 'blind'.

There was one disagreement on assessments between reviewers (SF & CS) and this was resolved by discussion.

The methodological quality of the studies was poor with only two studies rated Grade A (adequate) for allocation concealment (Ewer 1986; Mussell 1988), the remainder being rated Grade B, C or D. One RCT (Put 2003) had a rating of 4 on the Jadad scale, two had a rating of 3 (Ewer 1986; Loew 2001) with the remainder scored 2 or 1. Where allocation concealment or the randomisation process was unclear, letters were sent to authors asking for this information. However, as most of these studies were completed some time ago, correspondence from only two authors (Ewer 1986; Sommaruga 1995) was received (apart from information that authors had died or moved away).

#### Data analysis

Data from the twelve RCTs could not be entered into RevMan 4.1 for statistical analysis for the following reasons-

The studies were assessing different psychological interventions and even though several used relaxation therapy, the interventions were so diverse, it was not possible to pool results. Also, the studies either used different outcomes to measure the effectiveness of the intervention, or if the same outcomes were used- the data was presented in a method that could not be used (e.g. in graphical form). Authors were contacted to ask for data from these studies but this met with no response.

Therefore, outcome data could not be combined by meta-analysis in this review but are discussed descriptively. Where means and standard deviations were reported, 95% confidence intervals of the mean difference were calculated by an author (SF).

#### **DESCRIPTION OF STUDIES**

Study Design

See Included Studies table. Twelve studies were included in the review, with two publications from one study reporting different outcomes (Henry 1993). All were randomised and were conducted over a variety of durations (3 days to 12 months). Ten studies (Deter 1983; Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Payette 1977; Put 2003; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000) were of parallel design and two (Loew 2001; Mussell 1988) were of cross-over design.

#### Interventions used

5. Was the method of blinding well described and appropriate(1=yes;0=fib)? types of intervention were also diverse. Eight studies used some form of relaxation technique as their intervention (Deter 1983; Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Loew 2001; Payette 1977) however techniques used ranged from autogenic therapy to hypnosis and progressive muscle relaxation. Different placebo formats or different therapies were also used as controls. The other three studies used tracheal noise biofeedback (Mussell 1988), cognitive behavioural therapy combined with rehabilitation (Sommaruga 1995) a psycho-educational programme which included behavioural and cognitive techniques (Put 2003) and hypnotic suggestions to improve immune function and symptom relief (Wagaman 2000). Details of the interventions used are described in the included studies table.

> It should be pointed out that single methods are seldom used and most practicing therapists use an eclectic approach employing different combinations of therapies to suit the individual circumstances (e.g. presumed mechanism of influence, patient characteristics, therapist preferences). There is also considerable overlap between methods; for example, relaxation techniques are part of the armoury of tools used for behaviour modification. In asthma, all of these techniques are used in combination with drug therapies.

# METHODOLOGICAL QUALITY

Overall the methodological quality of the studies was poor, with several weaknesses in experimental design. Jadad scores varied between 1 and 4 with only one study rated at 4 (Put 2003) and two studies rated at 3 (Ewer 1986; Loew 2001). The studies by Erskine 1979, Lehrer 1994, Mussell 1988; Sommaruga 1995 and Wagaman 2000 were accorded 2 points while the rest (Deter 1983; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1997; Payette 1977) received 1 point.

Only two studies rated Grade A (adequate) for allocation concealment (Ewer 1986; Mussell 1988) the remainder being rated Grade B (unclear) (Deter 1983; Erskine 1979; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Loew 2001; Put 2003; Sommaruga 1995); Grade C (inadequate) (Wagaman 2000) or D (not used) (Lehrer 1997; Payette 1977).

Study Participants

The studies were generally small with only one having more than a hundred people included (Lehrer 1994 recruited 106 people). The smallest (Erskine 1979) had 12 and the largest of the rest

(Sommaruga 1995) 40 people. A power calculation to determine sample size was only done in one study (Lehrer 1994). Four studies included details about how many people were approached to join the research: Deter 1983 where 90 people were invited and 27 declined to join and 34 agreed (no information is given about the other 29 people), Lehrer 1994 where 47 more people were screened than actually participated in the study. Put 2003 invited 101 and 25 agreed and Wagaman 2000 where 90 people attended an initial interview resulting in 30 joining the research. No further data are provided from the other studies.

In some studies a description of withdrawals was not given (Henry 1993; Mussell 1988; Payette 1977; Sommaruga 1995). Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Lehrer 1997 and Wagaman 2000 gave the numbers who withdrew but no details of their characteristics. Deter 1983 did not mention withdrawals but eleven people appear not to have completed the study and it is difficult to see what happened to patients, as the numbers do not tally. Lehrer 1994 referred to patients who had dropped out, but also seemed to have a group who completed the treatment but for whom there are no measurements. Loew 2001 excluded patients (n = five) from some of the measures when they did not experience bronchoconstriction. Although Put 2003 commented on missing data there was no other discussion about missing data and the potential impact this might have had on the findings. In no study was there a clear plan enabling the reader to track easily the progress of patients approached or included in the trial and there was no discussion about missing data and the potential impact this might have had on the findings.

The severity of asthma varied from mild to severe, however not all studies reported this. Participants with co-morbidity were excluded from the studies.

#### Method of randomisation

Studies were randomised with patients allocated to control and experimental groups, however authors tended not to be clear as to whether all the patients who were eligible for the study were approached. Frequently the method of randomisation was not mentioned (Deter 1983; Erskine 1979; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Mussell 1988; Payette 1977; Wagaman 2000). Put 2003 had a system of drawing from unmarked envelopes. Loew 2001 used a computerised randomisation scheme to determine the sequence of the tests. Ewer 1986 reported that the outpatient department sister, who had no other involvement in the study, was responsible for the randomisation and on correspondence confirmed randomisation was done by computer. Sommaruga 1995 also confirmed on correspondence that randomisation was done by computer. Therefore it is difficult in all the studies to gauge whether the method of randomisation was appropriate. This is reflected in the Jadad scores.

Sometimes a researcher blinded to the participants group assessed the outcomes. Put 2003 used independent researchers who were unaware of the patient's treatment allocation. Ewer 1986 involved the outpatient department sister who was blind to the patient's group and although the author conducted the intervention, they are clear that the challenge test was conducted with a researcher who was blinded. Mussell 1988 used placebo treatments and referred to the study being double blind as to the treatment order. Loew 2001 refer to their study as being single-blind but are not clear whether the researcher or the subject was blinded. As they used a placebo relaxation technique, the subjects may have been blinded to the active treatment. Assessment of outcome in Payette 1977 was not blinded and in Lehrer 1997, the same person undertook the treatment intervention and measurement. Wagaman 2000 stated that assessments and medical assessments were blinded, but the investigator performed the interventions and delivered the psychometric assessments. All other authors failed to mention whether the assessment of outcomes was blinded or not.

In general therefore, the conclusion reached about the quality of the studies reflects the comment made by Ritz 2001:653, in his overlapping systematic review, that 'most of the few available studies suffer from inadequacies in experimental design, instrumentation, procedures and/or reporting of results'.

#### Outcomes

A wide variety of outcomes were used. These included objective measures of lung function such as FEV1, FVC and peak flow (Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Loew 2001; Mussell 1988; Payette 1977; Put 2003; Wagaman 2000) or medication usage (Deter 1983). Asthma symptoms were measured (Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Put 2003; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000). In contrast some researchers measured psychological traits such as anxiety (Deter 1983; Ewer 1986; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000), fear (Deter 1983; Ewer 1986; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000), fear (Deter 1983) or health locus of control (Sommaruga 1995). Health service utilisation was measured by Deter 1983; Sommaruga 1995 and Wagaman 2000.

#### RESULTS

#### Primary outcomes

Frequency, severity and duration of asthma symptoms

This was measured by seven studies (Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Put 2003; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000). Put 2003 used the McMaster Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire (Juniper 1992) and the Asthma Symptom Checklist (Kinsman 1973). Measurements were taken at baseline for both groups. For the experimental group they were taken again immediately after the intervention (which lasted three months) and three months thereafter. The waiting list controls had measurements at three and six months after baseline. There were significant differences in symptoms (p< 0.05) between groups. Analysis of variance showed differences in obstruction (F (2,42)=3.3, p< 0.05), fatigue (F(2,42=7.9,p=0.001) and irritation (F(2,42)=3.8, p< 0.05), with

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

the treatment group reporting a decrease in symptoms. There were no significant differences for dyspnoea and hyperventilation.

The findings for the between group analyses for the rest of the studies were not significant, however some significant results were found on within or whole group analysis.

One study (Sommaruga 1995) of an asthma rehabilitation programme including cognitive behavioural therapy resulted in both the intervention group and the control group having less asthma attacks (data to support this are not provided, apart from p<0.05).

Nocturnal symptoms i.e. sleep, and wheeze, activity, cough and phlegm were reported in one study (Ewer 1986). They examined the impact of hypnosis on people with a history of mild to moderate asthma. Patients were separated as to whether they scored high or low on a scale to measure their susceptibility to hypnosis (Stanford hypnotic clinical scale). Daily symptom scores, the rating scale is not given, were averaged for the first two and the last two weeks of the treatment period. In the high susceptibility group who received the hypnosis intervention, the subjective scores for nocturnal symptoms, wheeze and activity limitations improved after treatment. Mean percentage change in symptom scores was -62 (p < 0.05) for sleep, -53 (p < 0.001) for wheeze and -58 (p < 0.01) for activity. No significant change was found in either the low susceptibility treatment or control groups.

Bronchoconstriction, hyperventilation, panic-fear, irritability and fatigue were measured in a study by Lehrer 1997. Within group differences, before and after treatment, were not significant for bronchoconstriction and hyperventilation and no differences were found for the other three outcomes. Between group differences were not reported and it is assumed that these were not significant.

Hyperventilation severity (F=3.97, df=2,106, p<0.04) and frequency (F=4.82, df=2,106, p<0.02) using an asthma symptom checklist (Lehrer 1994) showed within group differences over the course of treatment with relaxation and music therapies but there was no significant differences between groups.

Subjective symptoms before and after hypnosis sessions were measured by Wagaman 2000 using the Asthma Symptom Checklist (Kinsman 1973). The groups were too small to allow statistical analysis to test for differences, however the whole sample had a decrease in overall symptoms post intervention when compared to pre-intervention measurement, however no usable data were presented. Frequency of acute attacks as measured by patient diaries were unable to be assessed statistically due to the small sample and the infrequency of these attacks.

Psychological Health Status- Anxiety, Locus of Control, Self-esteem, Quality of Life

Anxiety was used as an outcome measure in five studies (Deter 1983; Ewer 1986; Put 2003; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000). Health locus of control was examined in Sommaruga 1995 and

psychological symptoms in one (Erskine 1979). Anxiety was measured using the State-trait Anxiety Inventory (Spielberger 1970) in Ewer 1986- but no data are presented. There were no significant differences between groups for psychological health status, but there were some within group differences.

Trait anxiety was measured by Sommaruga 1995. Patients were treated in an Asthma Rehabilitation Group involving education and a cognitive behavioural intervention. There were significant differences between baseline and one year follow up in those who received the intervention, in respect of trait anxiety (data at enrolment (t0) showed a mean 43.2 (SD10.0) and at 1 year (t1) 36.7 (9.1),p<0.0005), psychophysiological disorder (t0 48.7 (9.3) t1 45.1 (9.4), p<0.02) and depressive symptoms (t0 5.8 (3.7) t1 3.6 (3.0), p<0.006), but not for psychophysiological disorder in the control group. There are other outcomes studying optimism, negative staff regard, internal awareness, external control, psychological stigma and authoritarian attitude from a Respiratory Illness Questionnaire (Staudenmayer 1978). Within group analyses showed significant decreases for external control (data at enrolment (t0) showed a mean 10.1 (SD3.8) and at 1 year (t1) 8.4 (3.5),p<0.05) and psychological stigma (t0 9.0 (3.8), t17.5 (3.8),p<0.03) in the intervention group and psychological stigma (t0 10.2(5.6) t17.8 (3.8) p<0.03) in the control group.

Anxiety, using the MMPI (Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory) showed an increase for the intervention as compared to the control group which is referred to as 'a tendency to react positively' although the implication of a higher score may be of worse anxiety. The magnitude was small with an increase or decrease of one point only, which is unlikely to have either clinical or statistical significance (Deter 1983). Anxiety is a sub-scale on the asthma symptom checklist used by Put 2003. No significant differences between groups were found.

State anxiety was assessed in Wagaman 2000. The groups were too small to allow statistical analysis to test for differences between the two intervention groups and the control group, however the whole sample had a significant decrease in anxiety post intervention (at one year follow up) when compared to pre-intervention measurement (mean change -12.09; t=4.13;p<0.01). The same study assessed neuroticism, extraversion and lying (Eysenck Personality Inventory), repressive coping (Marlowe Crowne Social Desirability Scale (Crowne 1960)), self-control methods to the solution of behavioural problems (Self-Control Schedule (Rosenbaum 1980)), and catastrophising

(Dysfunctional Cognition Inventory (Zocco 1985)). There were no significant differences found.

Health locus of control, including internal beliefs, and external control through powerful others and chance was measured using the Health Locus of Control Scale (Wallston 1976) in an Italian version in a study by Sommaruga 1995. There were no significant differences between baseline and one year follow-up except an increase in beliefs about 'external chance' in the control group.

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

'External chance' on the Health Locus of Control Scale measures the belief that health depends on casual factors and luck (t0 9.9 (3.5) t1 11.5(3.0) p<0.03).

Panic/fear and fatigue using an asthma symptom checklist (Lehrer 1994) showed differences over the course of treatment with relaxation and music therapies in an RCT. They report no significant differences between groups, but panic/fear severity did decrease for the whole sample (F=3.34, df =2,104, p<0.02). Wagaman 2000 also included panic/fear and fatigue but did not present usable data.

Psychological symptoms were examined in a RCT of relaxation therapy, using a self-report weekly symptom questionnaire incorporating a five-point severity rating scale (Erskine 1979). Data showed no difference between the two groups (muscular relaxation, and mental and muscular relaxation) and patients overall did not show any significant reduction in symptoms and signs.

Psychological elements were examined in a trial of autogenic therapy (Henry 1993) with measures of the patient's state-'vegetative', emotional, behavioural, cognitive and reactivity to stress with no significant differences between baseline and follow up in either group, with the exception of 'vegetative' state in the experimental group (mean difference (SD) 1.83(2.69) p<0.05). A Negative Emotionality Scale, which incorporates measures of negative affectivity as a personality trait, including irritability, nervousness and emotional instability was used by Put 2003. People in the experimental group had a decrease in scores, suggesting improvement, and there were significant differences between experimental and control groups (F(2,42)=10.8,p=0.0002).

Temperament was studied in Payette 1977 using the Taylor-Johnson Temperament Analysis (Taylor 1974) with no significant differences found between a group receiving biofeedback training and a control group.

Lehrer 1994 included measures of the most relaxed and tense moment in a session using a 9-point Likert scale. They found a significant treatment effect for relaxation during the training session, with the waiting list group being less relaxed (mean 4.2 (SD 1.5)) than the progressive relaxation groups (2.8 (1.4)) during their eighth session (p<0.05, 95% CI 0.6 to 2.2).

Henry 1993 found no significant differences between groups when measuring reactivity to stress. Reactivity to stress is the extent to which the body reacts to stressors. It can be assessed by comparing physiological measures in a resting state (baseline or relaxation) to those in the presence of a physical or psychological stressor. Psychological outcome measures may also be used.

Secondary Outcomes

Treatment

Four studies examined intervention effects on treatment (Deter 1983; Ewer 1986; Lehrer 1997; Wagaman 2000). Each trial used

a different method of measuring this outcome so effects could not be pooled. Deter 1983 found a significant difference in the numbers of people in the experimental group (n=4) who required less bronchodilators when compared to the control (n=0; p<0.05). For the sub-group of people with a high susceptibility to hypnosis, Ewer 1986 found the treatment group had significantly less bronchodilator use after treatment (mean 34.0 puffs/day (SD7.8)) when compared to before treatment (46.0 (7.2), p<0.05). Lehrer 1997 found no significant differences when measuring amounts of inhaled or oral steroids taken at 6 weeks post intervention. Wagaman 2000 found significant decreases in medication requirements in both of the experimental groups and a significant increase in the control group at one year after hypnotic suggestions were given. No usable data was presented to demonstrate this.

#### Health Service Utilisation

Three studies (Deter 1983; Sommaruga 1995; Wagaman 2000) examined this outcome and there were no significant differences between experimental and control groups. Each study measured this outcome using different methods so data could not be pooled. Sommaruga 1995 found numbers of hospitalisation days and number of emergency visits were decreased for both the intervention group (an asthma rehabilitation programme) and the control group (data to support this are not provided, apart from p<0.05). Numbers were too small in the Wagaman 2000 study on hypnosis to test for statistical differences for this outcome.

#### Absenteeism from work or school

Two studies examined this outcome by using patient diaries (Wagaman 2000) and recording the number of work/school absences (Sommaruga 1995). Work/school absences were significantly decreased post-intervention for both the asthma rehabilitation group and the control group (data to support this are not provided, apart from p<0.05). Numbers were too small in each group to test for statistical differences in the Wagaman 2000 study.

#### Lung Function

Eleven RCTs (Deter 1983; Erskine 1979; Ewer 1986; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Lehrer 1997; Loew 2001; Mussell 1988; Payette 1977; Put 2003; Wagaman 2000) used lung function as an outcome to measure the effectiveness of their intervention. Of these, two used a hypnotic technique to relax subjects (Ewer 1986) and to improve immune function (Wagaman 2000), seven trials used relaxation therapy (Deter 1983; Erskine 1979; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994; Loew 2001) two including biofeedback training (Lehrer 1997; Payette 1977), and another used tracheal noise biofeedback training to reduce bronchoconstriction (Mussell 1988). The final one (Put 2003) used a psychoeducational intervention, which included behavioural and cognitive techniques. Data could not be pooled in Metaview as the interventions used were too diverse. Data could not be pooled in Metaview as the interventions used were too diverse. In some studies, data was often presented in a format that could not be analysed (e.g. graphically). There was no

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

response from authors of these studies on written request for raw data.

#### Methacholine challenge test.

A methacholine challenge test to detect improvement of asthma following intervention was used in two RCTs. One adopted a hypnotic technique to relax subjects (Ewer 1986) and the other study used relaxation training (Lehrer 1994). No significant treatment effects were shown in the RCT using relaxation training. In the trial using a hypnotic technique the most important finding was a significant improvement in bronchial hyper-responsiveness for patients with a high susceptibility for hypnosis. The data using mean PC20 (SEM) were 9.09 (1.71) before treatment and 15.9 (2.79) after treatment (P=0.008), where PC20 is the provocation concentration of methacholine that caused a 20% fall in FEV1.

#### Spirometry

Spirometry was used in nine RCTs, however only three studies used the full range of spirometric tests as outcomes (Ewer 1986; Henry 1993; Lehrer 1994). Two RCTs, one using relaxation and the other biofeedback training (Erskine 1979; Mussell 1988) used FEV1 (forced expiratory volume in one second) only. Another, (Put 2003), measured Peak Expiratory Flow Rate (PEFR). Significant differences were found for day (F(2,40)=3.8,p=0.02) and night (F(2,40)=3.3, p<0.05) PEFR with the experimental patients faring best. The remaining three studies used a variety of measures (Loew 2001; Payette 1977; Wagaman 2000). There were no significant differences between groups for spirometry measures, however there were some within group improvements.

Ewer 1986 found significant improvement in FVC (forced vital capacity) for both intervention (6.9%) and control groups (5.03%) p< 0.002, PEF (peak expiratory flow) and MEF (mid expiratory flow) (50%) for the treatment group after hypnosis of 11.7% (p<0.002) and 14.7% (p<0.05) respectively when compared to baseline measurements. Henry 1993 found significant improvements in spirometric measures for the treatment group after autogenic therapy when compared to baseline measurements. These were- FVC (mean difference 0.31 (SD 0.24) p<0.001, % of predicted value of FVC (14.3 (8.39) p<0.001, FEV1 (0.35 (0.36) p<0.01), % of predicted value of FEV1 (16.3 (12.4) p<0.001), FEF25-75 (middle half of forced expiratory flow) (0.44 (0.58) p<0.5), % of predicted value of FEF25-75 (12.1 (15.5) p<0.05) and % of predicted value for MEF50 (13.6 (19.9), p<0.05).

Lehrer 1994 found no significant differences between groups for any of the spirometry measures after relaxation therapy. However significant decreases pre-test to post-test occurred for a subgroup of people (37) from the whole sample for PEF [F(1,49) = 8.12, p<0.007] and FEF50 [F(1,49) = 12.29, p<0.001]. Significant pre-test to post decreases also occurred for the whole sample for FEV1 [F(1,87) =21.56, p<0.001] and FEV1/FVC [F(1,87) = 13.64, p<0.0005]. Loew 2001 showed significant improvement for the functional relaxation group for FEV1 (mean difference of %values -1 (SD 7), p<0.05), PEF (-1 (14), p<0.05), MEF50 (0 (10), p<0.01) and MEF75 (-3 (10), p<0.01) when compared to baseline measures. Payette 1977 found no significant differences between groups for FVC, FEV1, FEV1/FVC (ratio of FEV1 and FVC) after EMG biofeedback training. Wagaman 2000 also found no significant differences between groups for FEV1, FEF 25-75, and PEF after hypnotic suggestion. Erskine 1979 and Mussell 1988 also reported no significant differences between groups for FEV1 measurements.

#### Airways resistance

Airways resistance was measured in three RCTs (Deter 1983; Lehrer 1997; Loew 2001). There was no significant difference between groups for airways resistance, however Lehrer 1997 showed significantly decreased airways resistance for the RSA biofeedback group (F(4,21) + 2.91, p<0.05) compared to pre-test measures. Loew 2001 also showed significant improvement for the functional relaxation group for airways resistance (Mean difference pre to post treatment 38% (SD 63) p<0.01) and specific airways resistance (Mean difference pre to post treatment 53% (SD 85) p<0.01) when compared to baseline measures. There were no significant differences for the control group. Data was presented for airways resistance (Mean 4.78 (SD 3.22)) and conductance (0.083 (0.48)) for the intervention group only in Deter 1983 with no significant differences found.

#### Markers of Inflammation

Immunoglobulins (IgE, IgA, IgM, IgG) were measured in Deter 1983 and showed that 82% (n=19) of patients had a raised 1gE, 8% (n=2) raised 1gM values and 4% (n=1) raised 1gE. There was much missing data and immunoglobulins were not used as an outcome measure.

#### Patient Satisfaction

Patient satisfaction with the intervention, and a report on its effectiveness, were mentioned by Lehrer 1994 but no data are presented and no further comment was made about these measures.

#### DISCUSSION

This systematic review evaluated twelve trials of varied psychological interventions for adults with asthma and found that generally these interventions do not decrease frequency, severity and duration of asthma symptoms or decrease health service utilisation. However, there were some positive effects found in some studies. Put 2003, describing one of the better designed trials, showed significant differences between experimental and control patients on a range of outcomes. These include symptoms such as obstruction, fatigue and irritation, as well as an aspect of lung function and psychological state. Another trial (Deter 1983) evaluating autogenic therapy found a significant decrease in the amount of bronchodilators taken for the intervention group, however another three trials which tested different interventions but evaluated this outcome reported no significant differences (Ewer 1986; Lehrer 1997; Wagaman 2000). Lehrer 1994 found that progressive relaxation resulted in the intervention group being significantly more relaxed, but no further significant differences were found between groups for psychological health status. With the exception of Put 2003, there were no significant differences in lung function between intervention and control groups for any of the interventions but there were some within group improvements. However, these improvements should be viewed with caution as the within group outcomes reported are not covered by the randomisation process and are reported in this review for comprehensiveness only.

Trials evaluating hypnosis (Ewer 1986), autogenic therapy (Henry 1993) and functional relaxation (Loew 2001) found lung function improved for the intervention group from baseline measurement to post-intervention measures. However a trial of progressive muscle relaxation (Lehrer 1994) found significant decreases in lung function for the intervention group from pre to post-session measures. Improvement of airways resistance was found for the intervention group after a trial of functional relaxation therapy (Loew 2001) and another trial evaluating biofeedback training (Lehrer 1997).

There is a general view that asthma is connected with psychological elements in the person (Lehrer 1993). This may involve a cause and effect relationship and because psychology and emotion are involved it is thought that psychological techniques may have a positive effect on patient outcomes. Psychological techniques may be effective in improving patients asthma symptoms, however there is no suggestion that these techniques could act on their own, rather as a supplement to medical treatment. There is a large worldwide literature base supporting these ideas but this review shows that questions of effectiveness have not yet been answered. It is clearly a difficult area to investigate and presents challenges for the design of good RCTs. Researchers have to recruit sufficient numbers of subjects to show an effect if there is one, ensure appropriate randomisation and blinding techniques and follow up subjects for a reasonable period.

RCTs evaluating this area are diverse. They study a mixed group of psychological techniques, which are difficult to classify due to the different methods used to deliver the intervention. This resulted in heterogeneous interventions even when the technique was given the same classification by study authors. It was then impossible to analyse any of these interventions collectively.

The diversity of the interventions was also complicated by a multiplicity of outcomes and the tools used to measure these. There is no consensus on which outcomes a psychological intervention might influence and the conceptual link between them. The most common outcome used in the studies reviewed was lung function; eleven of the studies evaluated this. However, whilst lung function was widely assessed, different measurements were taken, for example % predicted FEV1 and PEF L/min. Health care utilisation is increasingly being used as a primary outcome in drug trials and other studies on patients with asthma. This being the case, the primary outcome of this review may need to change as being hospitalised or being ill enough to visit the GP may be the most important outcome for the patient, however few trials included in this review have used this outcome. It is assumed that self-report measures were used, and these may not give accurate data.

The psychological outcomes used were even more numerous and diverse and there seems to be no consensus as to which psychological outcomes are conceptually linked to asthma or to the psychological interventions being studied.

An added complication was that two of the studies (Loew 2001; Mussell 1988) used a cross over design. This may not be an appropriate design to evaluate psychological interventions, as the influence of a treatment might continue after the intervention has been stopped. No account was taken for this potential carry-over effect in the analyses. This should be considered in the design of future studies.

It is apparent that this body of work does not seem to have a clear direction where current work is influenced by previous studies. Most of these small studies were done by trialists who, with the exception of Lehrer's team, did only one study. This has resulted in diverse studies looking at diverse interventions reporting on large numbers of different outcomes.

#### AUTHORS' CONCLUSIONS

#### Implications for practice

Because of the poor methodological quality and small sample sizes of the trials included, this review can draw no conclusions as to the effectiveness of psychological techniques for adults with asthma. The results from current RCTs in the field do not allow us to answer any of our original objectives. This review cannot therefore provide guidance for clinical practice.

#### Implications for research

Larger RCTs with good methodological quality are needed. There are a limited number of rigorous trials in this area and comparisons are frustrated by diversity of outcomes and poor results reporting. All pertinent results such as means and standard deviations should be reported to aid comparisons.

As asthma is a complex multi-factorial illness, the inclusion criteria used to select patients for research is important. Interventions should be targeted at groups of patients who are most likely to benefit from them, not broadly for 'patients with a confirmed diagnosis of asthma' as most RCTs have done in this review. For example, cognitive behavioural therapy to reduce emotional exacerbation of asthma will not be effective if the patient is not suffering acute stress or anxiety due to their asthma. This was addressed by only one study, Put 2003 where only participants with 'reported asthma symptomatology and impairment despite adequate medical treatment' were recruited.

There does not seem to be a developed programme of research for evaluating psychological interventions for adults with asthma, with many research teams doing just one study. Researchers in the field should agree common interventions, taxonomy and outcome indicators. There is a question over how appropriate it is to conduct RCTs of psychological interventions at all. This mainly has to do with the fact that, in practice, isolated therapies are seldom used and treatment plans are individualised to patients as complex self -management plans.

Evaluation using an RCT in the clinical setting may mean that the intervention is so tightly controlled that even if effectiveness were proven it might be difficult to transfer the intervention into routine clinical practice. Research funding should target a range of good quality research, including well designed rigorous RCTs, to determine the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of psychological techniques that have a sound theoretical base, with common taxonomy and outcome indicators and which can be used in the real world with individual patients who have differing needs and get better at different speeds.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors of this review would like to thank the members of the Cochrane airways group; Toby Lasserson, Steve Milan, Karen Blackhall, Phillipa Mills and Bettina Reuben for their continued support and encouragement. Thanks to the following people for translating studies: Gianni Ferrara (Italian), Keiji Hayashi (Japanese), Toby Lasserson (French and German), Sam Lasserson (Spanish), Makiko Meguro (Spanish and Japanese) and to Dr. Mike McKean for editing the review. Two anonymous expert peer reviewers also gave valuable input for which we are grateful.

# POTENTIAL CONFLICT OF

None known.

#### SOURCES OF SUPPORT

#### External sources of support

• Garfield Weston Foundation UK

#### Internal sources of support

No sources of support supplied

#### REFERENCES

#### References to studies included in this review

#### Erskine 1979 {published data only}

Erskine J, Schonell M. Relaxation therapy in bronchial asthma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1979;**23**(2):131–139.

#### Ewer 1986 {published data only}

Ewer TC, Stewart DE. Improvement in bronchial hyper-responsiveness in patients with moderate asthma after treatment with a hypnotic technique: a randomised controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 1986;**293**(6555):1129–1132.

#### Henry 1993 {published data only}

\* Henry M, de Gonzales Rivera JL, Gonzales-Martin IJ, Abreu J. Improvement of respiratory function in chronic asthmatic patients with autogenic therapy. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1993;**37**(3): 265–270.

Henry M, de Gonzalez Rivera JL, de las Cuevas C, Gonzalez I, Gracia R Abreu J, Ruperez yF. Reduced neurovegetative reactivity patterns to stress in chronic asthmatics with autogenic therapy [Reduccion de la reactividad neurovegetativa ante el estres en asmaticos cronicos con terapia autogena]. *Psiquis* 1991;**12**(7):26–32.

#### Lehrer 1994 {published data only}

Lehrer PM, Hochron SM, Mayne T, Isenberg S, Carlson V, Lasoski AM, Gilchrist J, Morales D, Rausch L. Relaxation and music therapies for asthma among patients prestablized on asthma medication. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 1994;**17**(1):1–24.

#### Lehrer 1997 {published data only}

Lehrer P, Carr RE, Smetankine A, Vaschillo E, Peper E, Porges S, Edelberg R, Hamer R, Hochron S. Respiratory sinus arrhythmia versus neck/trapezius EMG and incentive inspirometry biofeedback for asthma: a pilot study. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback* 1997;**22**(2):95–109.

#### Loew 2001 {published data only}

Loew TH, Tritt K, Siegfried W, Bohmann H, Martus P, Hahn EG. Efficacy of 'functional relaxation' in comparison to terbutaline and a 'placebo relaxation' method in patients with acute asthma. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 2001;**70**(3):151–157.

#### Mussell 1988 {published data only}

Mussell M J, Hartley J P R. Trachea-noise biofeedback in asthma: a comparison of the effect of trachea-noise biofeedback, a bronchodilator and no treatment on the rate of recovery from exercise- and eucap-

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

Deter 1983 {published data only}

Deter H-C, Allert G. Group therapy for asthma patients: a concept for the psychosomatic treatment of patients in a medical clinic - a controlled study. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 1983;40:95–105.

nic hyperventilation-induced asthma. *Biofeedback and Self-Regulation* 1988;**13**(3):219–234.

#### Payette 1977 {unpublished data only}

Payette BA. The effect of EMG biofeedback training on selected physiological and personality variables in the adult asthma patient. Dissertation Abstracts International 1977; 38(5-B):2419.

#### Put 2003 {published data only}

Put C, van den Bergh O, Lemaigre V, Demedts M, Verleden G. Evaluation of an individualised asthma programme directed at behavioural change. *European Respiratory Journal* 2003;**21**(1):109–115.

#### Sommaruga 1995 {published data only}

Sommaruga M, Spanevello A, Migliori GB, Neri M, Callegari S, Majani G. The effects of a cognitive behavioural intervention in asthmatic patients. *Mondali Archives of Chest Diseases* 1995;**50**(5): 398–402.

#### Wagaman 2000 {unpublished data only}

Wagaman MJ. Physiological and psychological effects of various hypnotic suggestions with asthma patients. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: the Sciences & Engineering 2000; 61(1-B):185.

#### References to studies excluded from this review

#### Ago 1976

Ago Y, Ikemi Y, Sugita M, Takahashi N, Teshima H, Nagata S, Inoue S. A comparative study on somatic treatment and comprehensive treatment of bronchial asthma. *The Journal of Asthma Research* 1976; **14**(1):37–43.

#### Allen 1995

Allen RM, Jones MP, Oldenburg B. Randomised trial of an asthma self-management programme for adults. *Thorax* 1995;**50**(7):731–738.

#### Anon 1968

Hypnotherapy in Asthma Subcommittee. Hypnosis for asthma- a controlled trial. *British Medical Journal* 1968;4(623):71–76.

#### Bailey 1990

Bailey WC, Richards JM, Brooks M, Soong S-J, Windsor RA, Manzella BA. A randomized trial to improve self-management practices of adults with asthma. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 1990;**150**: 1664–1668.

#### Barendregt 1957

Barendregt JT. A psychological investigation of the effect of group psychotherapy in patients with bronchial asthma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1957;**2**:115–119.

#### Ben-Zvi 1982

Ben-Zvi Z, Spohn WA, Young SH, Kattan M. Hypnosis for Exercise-Induced Asthma. *American Review of Respiratory Diseases* 1982;**125**: 392–395.

#### Boulet 1995

Boulet LP, Boutin H, Cote J, Leblanc P, Laviolette M. Evaluation of an Asthma Self-Management Education Program. *Journal of Asthma* 1995;**32**(3):199–206.

#### Cambach 1997

Cambach W, Chadwick-Straver RVM, Wagenaar RC, van Keimpema ARJ, Kemper HCG. The effects of a community-based pulmonary rehabilitation programme on exercise tolerance and quality of life: a randomized controlled trial. *European Respiratory Journal* 1997;**10** (1):104–113.

#### Ciurluini 1993

Ciurluini P, Rongoni T, Pezzella P. Therapeutic efficacy's evaluation of rehabilitative combined treatments in asthma: confront between three cognitive behavioural psychotherapy models [Valutazione dell'efficacia terapeutica dei trattamenti riabilitativi combinati dell'asma: confronto fra tre metodiche diverse di psicoterapia cognitivo-comportamentale]. *Lotto contro la TBC e malattie polmonari soc.* 1993;**63**:130–133.

#### Clark 1997

Clark NM, Nothwehr F. Self-management of asthma by adult patients. *Patient Education and Counseling* 1997;**32**:S5–S20.

#### Coen 1996

Coen BL, Conran PB, McGrady A, Nelson L. Effects of biofeedbackassisted relaxation on asthma severity and immune function. *Pediatric Asthma, Allergy and Immunolgy* 1996;**10**(2):71–78.

#### Conte 1981

Conte HR, Karasu TB. Psychotherapy for medically ill patients: review and critique of controlled studies. *Psychosomatics* 1981;**22**(4): 285–315.

#### Cox 1991

Cox NJ, Hendriks J, Binkhorst RA, van Herwaarden CL. Favorable effects of rehabilitation in patients with CARA (COPD) [Gunstige effecten van revalidatie bij patienten met CARA]. *Nederlands Tijdschrift voor Geneeskunde* 1991;**135**(22):987–91.

#### Deter 1983a

Deter HC. Cost-benefit analysis of psychosomatic therapy in asthma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1986;**30**(2):173–182.

#### Devine 1996

Devine EC. Meta-analysis of the effects of psychoeducational care in adults with asthma. *Research in Nursing and Health* 1996;**19**:367–376.

#### Erskine-Milliss 1987

Erskine-Milliss JM, Cleary PJ. Respiratory resistance feedback in the treatment of bronchial asthma in adults. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1987;**31**(6):765–775.

#### Franco 1982

Franco C. Controlled study on the effects of suggestion in asthma [Studio controllato sugli effetti della suggestione nell'ansia]. *Bollettino di Psicologia Applicata* 1982;**161-164**:33–40.

#### Fujii 1997

Fujii S, Minamihaba O. Step Down management in case with severe persistent asthma. *Japanese Journal of Chest Disease* 1997;**56**(1):69–73.

#### Ghosh 1998

Ghosh CS, Ravindran P, Joshi M, Stearns SC. Reductions in hospital use from self management training for chronic asthmatics. *Social Science and Medicine* 1998;**46**(8):1087–1093.

#### Groen 1960

Groen JJ, Pelser HE. Experiences with, and results of, group psychotherapy in patients with bronchial asthma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1960;4:191–205.

#### Grover 2002

Grover N, Kumaraiah V, Prasadrao PS, D'souza G. Cognitive behavioural intervention in bronchial asthma. *Journal of the Association* of *Physicians of India* 2002;**50**:896–900.

#### Hackman 2000

Hackman RM, Stern JS, Gershwin ME. Hypnosis and asthma: a critical review. *Journal of Asthma* 2000;**37**(1):1–15.

#### Haire-Joshu 1993

Haire-Joshu D, Fisher EB, Munro J, Wedner HJ. A comparison of patient attitudes toward asthma self-management among acute and preventive care settings. *Journal of Asthma* 1993;**30**(5):359–371.

#### Hajjar 1999

Hajjar M. Behavioural interventions as aids for asthmatic patients: a review. *Eastern Mediterranean Health Journal* 1999;**5**(3):583–8.

#### Harding 1982

Harding AV, Maher KR. Biofeedback training of cardiac acceleration; effects on airway resistance in bronchial asthma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1982;**26**(4):447–454.

#### Hashizume 1996

Hashizume M, Nakai Y. Psychosomatic treatment for patient with bronchial asthma. *Japanese Journal of Psychosomatic Medicine* 1996; **36**(3):223–228.

#### Hirokawa 1992

Hirokawa-Y, Kondou-T, Ohta-Y, Shirakura-K, Suda-S. Trial of 10Hz respiratory resistance meter and its application to the biofeedback therapy of bronchial asthma. *Kokyu To Junkan* 1992;**40**(3):249–253.

#### Huntley 2002

Huntley A, White AR, Ernst E. Relaxation therapies for asthma: a systematic review. *Thorax* 2002;**57**:127–131.

#### Jonckheere 1997

Jonckheere P, Grazian N, Misson A. The psychosomatic shunt. Implications for therapeutic strategies and research. *New Trends in Experimental and Clinical Psychiatry* 1997;**13**(3):161–168.

#### Kang 1993

Kang D-H. The effects of stress, negative emotions, and psychosocial support on immune responses and symptom expression in asthmatic adolescents. Unpublished PhD Thesis, University of Wisconsin-Madison 1993.

#### Kaptein 1987

Kaptein AA. COPD: A challenge for the health psychologist [CARA: Een uitdaging voor de gezondheidspsycholoog]. *Gedrag en Gezondheid: Tijdschrift voor Psychologie & Gezondheid* 1987;**15**(2):49–57.

#### Kern-Buell 2000

Kern-Buell CL, McGrady AV, Conran PB, Nelson LA. Asthma severity, psychophysiological indicators of arousal, and immune function in asthma patients undergoing biofeedback-assisted relaxation. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback* 2000;**25**(2):79–91.

#### Khateeb 1995

Khateeb Z. Psychotherapy effectiveness in asthma: meta-analysis [L'efficacite des psychotherapies dans l'asthme: meta-analyse]. *Acta Psychiat. belg* 1995;**95**(1):25–43.

#### Klingelhofer 1988

Klingelhofer EL, Gershwin ME. Asthma self-management programs: premises, not promises. *Journal of Asthma* 1998;**25**(2):89–101.

#### Kolbe 1996

Kolbe J, Vamos M, James F, Elkind G, Garrett J. Assessment of practical knowledge of self-management of acute asthma. *Chest* 1996; **109**(1):86–90.

#### Kotses 1991

Kotses H, Stout C, Wigal JK, Carlson B, Creer TL, Lewis P. Individualized asthma self-management: a beginning. *Journal of Asthma* 1991;**28**(4):287–289.

#### Kotses 1995

Kotses H, Bernstein L, Bernstein DI, Reynolds RVC, Korbee L, Wigal JK, Ganson E, Stout C, Creer TL. A self-management program for adult asthma. Part 1: Development and evaluation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 1995;**95**(2):529–540.

#### Kotses 1996

Kotses H, Stout C, McConnaughy K, Winder JA, Creer TL. Evaluation of individualized asthma self-management programs. *Journal* of Asthma 1996;**33**(2):113–118.

#### Lahdensuo 1996

Lahdensuo A, Haahtela T, Herrala J, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Kuusisto P, Pekurinen M, Peramaki E, Saarelainen S, Svahn T, Liljas B. Randomised comparison of guided self-management and traditional treatment of asthma over one year. *BMJ* 1996;**312**(7138):748–752.

#### Laidlaw 1994

Laidlaw TM, Richardson DH, Booth RJ, Large RG. Immediate-type hypersensitivity reactions and hypnosis: problems in methodology. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1994;**38**(6):569–580.

#### Lehrer 1986

Lehrer PM, Hochron SM, McCann B, Swartzman L, Reba P. Relaxation decreases large-airway but not small airway asthma. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1986;**30**(1):13–25.

#### Lehrer 1992

Lehrer PM, Sargunaraj D. Psychological approaches to the treatment of asthma. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1992;**60**(4): 639–643.

#### Lehrer 1993

Lehrer PM, Isenberg S, Hochron SM. Asthma and emotion: a review. *Journal of Asthma* 1993;**30**(1):5–21.

#### Lehrer 1997a

Lehrer PM, Hochron SM, Mayne T, Isenberg S, Lasoski AM, Carlson V, Gilchrist J, Porges S. Relationship between changes in EMG and respiratory sinus arrhythmia in a study of relaxation therapy for asthma. *Applied Psychophysiology and Biofeedback* 1997;**22**(3):183– 191.

#### Levendel 1980

Levendel L, Lakatos M. Biofeedback studies in asthmatic patients [Biofeedback modszer alkalmazasa asztmas betegeken]. *Orvosi Hetilap* 1980;**121**(36):2193–5.

#### Lewith 1996

Lewith GT, Watkins AD. Unconventional therapies in asthma: an overview. *Allergy* 1996;**51**:761–769.

#### Linden 1994

Linden W. Autogenic training: a narrative and quantitative review of clinical outcome. *Biofeedback and Self-Regulation* 1994;**19**(3):227–264.

#### Loew 1996

Loew TH, Siegfried W, Martus P, Tritt K, Hahn EG. 'Functional relaxation' reduces acute airway obstruction in asthmatics as effectively as inhaled terbutaline. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics* 1996; **65**:124–128.

#### Maes 1988

Maes S, Schlosser M. Changing health behaviour outcomes in asthmatic patients: a pilot intervention study. *Social Science and Medicine* 1988;**26**(3):359–364.

#### Matts 1973

Matts SG. Management of bronchospasm. *British Journal of Clinical Practice* 1973;**27**(11):397–402.

#### Moore 1965

\* Moore N. Behaviour therapy in bronchial asthma: a controlled study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1965;**9**(3):257–276.

#### Murphy 1989

Murphy AI, Lehrer PM, Karlin R, Swartzman L, Hochron S, Mc-Cann B. Hypnotic susceptibility and its relationship to outcome in the behavioural treatment of asthma: some preliminary data. *Psychological Reports* 1989;**65**(2):691–698.

#### Nagata 1995

Nagata S, Kihara H, Nitta Y, Ago Y. The development of the psychosomatic treatment of bronchial asthma according to the onset mechanism and its pathophysiology. *Shinshin-Igaku* 1995;**35**:17–24.

#### Negley-Parker 1986

Negley-Parker E, Araoz DL. Hypnotherapy with Families of Chronically Ill Children. *International Journal of Psychosomatics* 1986;**33**(2): 9–11.

#### Peper 1992

Peper E, Tibbetts V. Fifteen-month follow-up with asthmatics utilizing EMG/incentive inspirometer feedback. *Biofeedback and Self-Regulation* 1992;17(2):143–151.

#### Richter 1982

Richter R, Dahme B. Bronchial asthma in adults: there is little evidence for the effectiveness of behavioural therapy and relaxation. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1982;**26**(5):533–540.

#### Richter 1987

Richter R, Dahme B. Psychosomatic aspects of bronchial asthma [Psychosomatische Aspekte des Asthma bronchiale]. *Praxis und Klinik der Pneumologie* 1987;**41**(Suppl 1):656–660.

#### Ringsberg 1990

Ringsberg KC, Wiklund I, Wilhelmsen L. Education of adult patients at an "asthma school": effects on qualty of life, knowledge and need for nursing. *European Respiratory Journal* 1990;**3**:33–37.

#### Ritz 2001

Ritz T. Relaxation therapy in adult asthma. Is there new evidence for its effectiveness?. *Behavior Modification* 2001;**25**(4):640–66.

#### Sachs 1993

Sachs G, Haber P, Spiess K, Moser K. The efficacy of relaxation techniques in patients with chronic respiratory disease [Zur effektivitat von entspannungsgruppen bei patienten mit chronischen atemwegserkrankungen]. *Weiner Klinische Wochenscrhift* 1993;**105** (21):603–610.

#### Sauer 1978

Sauer J, Schnetzer M. Personality profile of asthmatics and its changes in the course of various treatment methods [Zum personlichkeitsbild des asthmatikers und seiner veranderung durch unterschiedliche behandlungsmethoden im verlauf einer kur]. Zietschrift für Klinische Psychologie und Psychotherapie 1978;**26**(2):171–180.

#### Schaeffer 1975

Schaeffer G, Freytag-Klinger H. Objectifying the effect of autogenic training on disturbed ventilation in bronchial asthma [Zur Objek-tivierung der Wirkung des autogenen trainings auf die gestorte ventilation beim asthma bronchiale]. *Psychiatrie, Neurologie und medizinsiche Psychologie* 1975;**27**(7):400–408.

#### Sclare 1957

Sclare AB, Crocket JA. Group Psychotherapy in Bronchial Asthma. Journal of Psychosomatic Research 1957;2:157–171.

#### Snyder 1987

Snyder SE, Winder JA, Creer TL. Development and evaluation of an adult asthma self-management program: wheezers anonymous. *Journal of asthma* 1987;**24**(3):153–158.

#### Spiess 1988

Spiess K, Sachs G, Buchinger C, Roggla G, Schnack C, Haber P. The effect of information and relaxation groups on lung function and the psychophysical status of asthmatic patients - a pilot study [Zur auswirkung von informations- und entspannungsgruppen auf die Lungenfunktion und psychophysische befindlichkeit bei asthmapatienten]. *Praxis und Klinik der Pneumologie* 1988;**42**(7):641–644.

#### Stepans 2000

Stepans M B, Beeken J. Biofeedback and relaxation therapy: symptom control in individuals with lung disease. *Communicating Nursing Research* 2000;**33**:192.

#### Steptoe 1981

Steptoe A, Phillips J, Harling J. Biofeedback and instructions in the modification of total respiratory resistance: an experimental study of asthmatic and non-asthmatic volunteers. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 1981;**25**(6):541–551.

#### Stout 1997

Stout C, Kotses H, Creer TL. Improving perception of air flow obstruction in asthma patients. *Psychosomatic medicine* 1997;**59**(2): 201–206.

#### Stuhr 1996

Stuhr U. Taxonomic research questions in psychosomatic and psychotherapy [Taxonomische forschungasansatze in psychosomatik and psychotherapie]. *Psychotherapie, Psychosomatik, Medizinische Psychologie* 1996;**46**(6):208–216.

#### Vedanthan 1998

Vedanthan PK, Kesavalu LN, Murthy KC, Duvall K, Hall MJ, Baker S, Nagarathna S. Clinical study of yoga techniques in university students with asthma: a controlled study. *Allergy and Asthma Proceedings* 1998;**19**(1):3–9.

#### Vickers 1997

Vickers AJ, Smith C. Analysis of the evidence profile of the effectiveness of complementary therapies in asthma: a qualitative survey and systematic review. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine* 1997; 5:202–209.

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

#### Wilson 1975

Wilson AF, Honsberger R, Chiu JT, Novey HS. Transcendental meditation in asthma. *Respiration* 1975;**32**(1):74–80.

#### Wilson 1993

Wilson SP, Scamagas P, German DF, Hughes GW, Lulla S, Coss S, Chardon L, Thomas RG, Starr-Schneidkraut N, Stancavage FB, Arsham GM. A controlled trial of two forms of self-management education for adults with asthma. *The American Journal of Medicine* 1993;**94**:564–576.

#### References to ongoing studies

#### Harrison

The Coping with Asthma Study: A randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of a home-based coping skills training programme for high risk asthma sufferers.. Ongoing study September 1999.

#### Additional references

#### Bosley 1996

Bosley CM, Corden ZM, Cochrane GM. Psychosocial factors and asthma. *Respiratory Medicine* 1996;**90**:453–457.

#### Brooks 1994

Brooks CM, Richards JM, Kohler CL. Assessing adherence to asthma medication and inhaler regimens: a psychometric analysis of self-report scales. *Medical Care* 1994;**32**:298–307.

#### BTS 2003

The British Thoracic Society, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network (SIGN). British guidelines on the management of asthma. *Thorax* 2003;**58**(Supplement 1):i1–94.

#### Crist 1989

Crist DA, Rickard HC, Prentice-Dunn S, Barker HR. The relaxation inventory: Self-report scales of relaxation training effects. *Journal of Personality Assessment* 1989;**53**(4):716–726.

#### Crowne 1960

Crowne DP, Marlowe D. A new scale of social desirability independent of psychopathology. *Journal of Consulting Psychology* 1960;**24** (4):349–354.

#### Gibson 2002a

Gibson PG, Coughlan J, Wilson AJ, Abramson M, Bauman A, Hensley MJ, Walters EH. Self-management education and regular practitioner review for adults with asthma (Cochrane Review). In: *Cochrane Library*, 2, 2002. Oxford: Update software.

#### Gibson 2002b

Gibson PG, Powell H, Coughlan J, Wilson AJ, Hensley MJ, Abramson M, Bauman A, Walters EH. Limited (information only) patient education programs for adults with asthma (Cochrane Review). In: *Cochrane Library*, 2, 2002. Oxford: Update software.

#### Gonzalez de R 1983

de Gonzalez Rivera JL. *La orientacion psicosomatica en medicina y la consulta psiquiatrica interdepartamental en el hospital general*. Madrid: S. Científico Roche, 1983.

#### Haby 2002

Haby MM, Waters E, Robertson CF, Gibson PG, Ducharune FM. Interventions for educating children who have attended the emergency room for asthma (Cochrane Review). In: *The Cochrane Library*, 2, 2002. Oxford: Update software.

#### Jadad 1996

Jadad AR, Moore A, Carroll D, Jenkinson C, Reynolds DJM, Gavaghan DJ, et al. Assessing the Quality of Randomised Controlled Trials: is blinding necessary?. *Controlled Clinical Trials* 1996;**17**:1– 12.

#### Juniper 1992

Juniper EF, Guyatt GH, Epstein RS, Ferrie PJ, Jaeschke R, Hiller TK. Evaluation of impairment of health related quality of life in asthma: development of a questionnaire for use in clinical trials. *Thorax* 1992; **47**:76–83.

#### Kinsman 1973

Kinsman RA, Luparello T, O'Banion K, Spector S. Multidimensional analysis of the subjective symptomatology of asthma. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 1973;**35**(3):250–267.

#### Kotses 1995

Kotses H, Bernstein IL, Bernstein DI, Reynolds RVC, Korbee L, Wigal JK, Ganson E, Stout C. A self-management program for adult asthma. Part 1: Development and evaluation. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology* 1995;**95**(2):529–540.

#### NAC 2001

National Asthma Campaign. Out in the open. A true picture of asthma in the United Kingdom today. *The Asthma Journal* 2001;**6**(3 Special Supplement):1–14.

#### Osgood 1957

Osgood CE, Suci GJ, Tannenbaum PH. *The measurement of meaning*. Urbana: University of Illinois, 1957.

#### Panton 2002

Panton J, Barley EA. Family therapy for asthma in children. In: *Cochrane Library*, 2, 2002. Oxford: Update Software.

#### Pilowsky 1969

Pilowsky I. Abnormal illness behaviour. *British Journal of Medical Psychology* 1969;**42**(4):347–351.

#### Rosenbaum 1980

Rosenbaum M. A schedule for assessing self-control behaviours: preliminary findings. *Behaviour Therapy* 1980;**11**(1):109–121.

#### Sanavio 1986

Sanavio E, Bertolotti G, Michielin P, Vidotto G, Zotti AM. *Batteria CBA 2.0 Scale Primarie Manuale*. Florence: Organizzazioni Speciali, 1986.

#### Spielberger 1970

Spielberger CD, Gorsuch R, Lushene R. *Manual for the state trait anxiety inventory*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologist Press, 1970.

#### Staudenmayer 1978

Staudenmayer H, Kinsman RA, Jones NF. Attitudes toward respiratory illness and hospitalization in asthma. *Journal of Nervous & Mental Disease* 1978;**166**(9):624–634.

#### Taylor 1974

Taylor RM, Phillips Morrison L. *Taylor-Johnson Temperament Analysis* (*T-JTS*). Los Angeles: Psychological Publications Inc, 1974.

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

#### Tellegen 1988

Tellegen A, Lykken DT, Bouchard TJ, Wilcox KJ, Segal NL, Rich S. Personality similarity in twins reared apart and together. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 1988;**54**:1031–1039.

#### Wallston 1976

Wallston BS, Wallston KA, Kaplan GD, Maides SA. Development and validation of the health locus of control (HLC) scale. *Journal of Consulting & Clinical Psychology* 1976;44(4):580–585.

# Wigal 1993

Wigal JK, Stout C, Brandon M. The Knowledge, Attitude, and Self-Efficacy Asthma Questionnaire. *Chest* 1993;**104**:1144–1148.

### Zocco 1985

Zocco L. The development of a self-report inventory to assess dysfunctional cognitions in phobics. Dissertation Abstracts International, University Microfilms International, Vol 45 (8-B), 2708 1985.

#### Zung 1965

Zung WW. A self rating depression scale. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 1965;**12**(1):63–70.

\* Indicates the major publication for the study

### TABLES

Study	Deter 1983
Methods	RCT (parallel design).
	Method of randomisation: randomised into 3 groups, method not described.
	Outcome assessment: method not described.
	Withdrawals and dropouts: not described.
	Jadad score 1.
Participants	90 eligible for inclusion. 31 randomised, 23 completed.
	Intervention 1-7.
	Intervention 2-8. Control- 8.
	Age range given in categories: <30=7, 30-50=14, >50=10.
	Mean age: 43.5 years.
	Sex: Male 14, female 17.
	Asthma diagnosis by physicians using Scadding's (1976) criteria for clinical and body plethysmographic examinations.
	Severity of asthma: Light (10), medium (9), Severe (12).
	Hospital clinic setting (Germany).
	Inclusion criteria: Clinic patients with asthma but not had group therapy.
	Exclusion criteria: patients who had received group therapy in the past.
Interventions	Intervention 1: Exchange of information, discussion sessions and autogenic training (7)
	Intervention 2: Exchange of information, discussion sessions and functional relaxation (8)
	Control: waiting group offered intervention after one year (8).
	40 sessions delivered over 12 months.
	Intervention delivered by physicians ('internists and psychosomatics).

#### Characteristics of included studies

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

Outcomes	Use of bronchodilators; use of steroids; use of inhalation sprays; pulmonary function (resistance and con- ductance); psychological state and anxiety (MMPI fear index), patients' observation of their own bodies; GP visits; hospitalisation (number of days).
	Measured at baseline and 12 months.
Notes	Comparison between functional relaxation and control only.
	Data presented as change scores between groups with no SD.
	No sample size calculation.
Allocation concolmont	D

Allocation concealment B

Study	Erskine 1979
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Randomisation method: Patients matched in pairs according to age, sex, FEV1, and severity of asthma, then randomly allocated to one of the 2 intervention groups. Method of randomisation not described.
	Withdrawals and dropouts: 2 patients withdrawn, characteristics not described.
	Jadad score 2.
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 12 randomised, 10 completed.
	Intervention 1- 5.
	Intervention 2- 5.
	Age: 16-46 years, mean age 30.
	Sex: not stated.
	Physician diagnosed asthma using ATS criteria.
	Severity: Moderate or severe, numbers not stated.
	Setting not stated (authors from Australia).
	Inclusion criteria: moderate and severe asthma. Exclusion criteria not stated.
Interventions	Intervention 1: Muscular and mental relaxation techniques.
	Intervention 2: muscular relaxation techniques.
	No control group
	Intervention given once a week for 4 weeks.
	Intervention delivered by 'the therapist'.
Outcomes	FEV1, weekly symptom questionnaire (Kinsman et al. 1973), daily symptom questionnaire (locally designed), subjective severity rating (5 point scale); Self report measurements - psychological, physical and bronchocon- striction; Post treatment questionnaire: expectations of treatment, success of the treatment, frequency of relaxation performed at home.
	Outcomes measured once a week for 3 weeks pre-treatment, during treatment and 6 weeks after (13 weeks
	in total).
Notes	No imputable data in this trial. Results are reported as means without standard deviations. FEV1 data is
	graphical only.
	No sample size calculation.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Ewer 1986
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Randomisation method: Not clear in paper but used computerised randomisation tables, allocation concealed (from correspondence with TE). Outcome assessment blinded. Withdrawals and dropouts described. Jadad score: 3.
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 44 randomised, 39 completed. Intervention (low susceptibility to hypnosis)- 10. Intervention (high susceptibility to hypnosis)- 12. Control (low susceptibility to hypnosis)- 7. Control (high susceptibility to hypnosis)- 10. Age: 18-45.

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

	Sex: Male 15, female, 24. Physician diagnosed asthma. Severity: mild to moderate, numbers not stated. Setting: asthma clinic, patients recruited from the local community (New Zealand). Inclusion criteria: History of mild to moderate asthma. Exclusion criteria: a reduction of less than 20% in the ratio of forced expiratory volume in one second to forced vital capacity with the maximum concentration
	of methacholine, a history of severe asthma, concurrent systemic steroid treatment, pregnancy, history of psychosis or relevant medical illness.
Interventions	Intervention: Hypnotic induction with progressive relaxation, progression of guided imageries, ego enhance- ment, self hypnosis. Half hour sessions over six weeks. Intervention delivered by physician (project leader). Control: half hour sessions with asthma nurse over 6 weeks.
Outcomes	FVC, FEV1, FEV1/FVC (%), PEF, MEF at 50% VC. FRC, RV and airways resistance measured by Collins Plethysmograph, bronchial responsiveness, subjective sensitivity. Diary recordings of PEF twice daily, daily use of drugs, symptoms related to asthma (cough, activity limitation, wheeze, phlegm, nocturnal symptoms), psychological profile using STAI (Spielberger et al 1970), Zung's self rating depression scale (Zung 1965) and Pilowsky's illness behaviour questionnaire (Pilowsky et al 1969). Outcomes measured before and one week after treatment for lung function, methacholine challenge test, and psychological profiles.
Notes	Psychological profile results reported in another paper (not published). No sample size calculation. (author delivered intervention but outcome assessment was blinded).
Allocation concealment	A

Study	Henry 1993
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Randomisation method: not stated. Outcome assessment method: not stated. Withdrawals and dropouts: not described. Jadad score 1.
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 24 randomised, Intervention 12, Placebo 12. Dropout rate not stated. Age: 18-58 years (mean 39.66). Sex: Male 3, female 21. Physician diagnosed chronic asthma. Severity: moderate to severe. Numbers not stated. Setting: Hospital clinic in Spain. Inclusion criteria: presence of psychopathological disorders or psychosocial factors associated with the asth- matic disorder requiring treatment as well as imperfect control of asthma with conventional medical treat- ment; Spirometric evidence of bronchial asthma; age between 18 and 60 years. Exclusion criteria: severe disorders; mental retardation or other contraindications for autogenic therapy.
Interventions	Intervention: Autogenic therapy. Placebo: supportive group psychotherapy including an educational component. Intervention and placebo group sessions one hour a week over eight months. Delivered by 'the therapist'.
Outcomes	FVC, FVC % predicted, FEV1, FEV1 % predicted, FEF 25-75, FEF 25-75 % predicted, MEF 50, MEF 50 % predicted. Measured at pre-treatment and post treatment, exact measurement points not stated. Psychological outcomes (reported in separate spanish publication): 'reactivity to stress' measured by ques- tionnaire with four sub scales vegetative, emotional, cognitive and behavioural (Gonzalez de Rivera, 1983). Measured before and after treatment (exact time not given).

Notes	Within group differences reported for all lung function outcomes. Between and within group differences
	reported for psychological outcomes.
	No sample size calculation.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Lehrer 1994
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Randomisation method: not stated. Outcome measurement method: described but not stated if blinded. Withdrawals and dropouts: described. Jadad score 2.
Participants	<ul> <li>153 eligible after telephone screening. 106 randomised after further screening. 72 completed. Intervention</li> <li>1- 25, Intervention 2- 26, Control- 21.</li> <li>Age: 18-65 years.</li> <li>Sex: Male 51, female 55.</li> <li>Physician confirmed diagnosis of asthma.</li> <li>Severity: mild to moderate (on average), numbers not stated.</li> <li>Setting: Not clear but may have been hospital clinic in USA, may have several centres.</li> <li>Inclusion criteria: Physician diagnosed asthma by history, physical examination, measurement of diffusion capacity and spirometry; Bronchial hyperreactivity to methacholine challenge test.</li> <li>Exclusion criteria: Gross psychopathology, psychoactive medications, smokers, pregnant women, prior exposure to any form of relaxation therapy, asthma triggered only by exposure to specific easily avoided allergens.</li> </ul>
Interventions	Intervention 1: Progressive muscle relaxation. Intervention 2 : listening to relaxing music. Control (waiting list). 8 sessions with one hour a day at home (of intervention) in between sessions. Length of programme not given. Interventions delivered by 'relaxation therapist'.
Outcomes	Methacholine challenge test results, FEV1, FVC, Peak flow, FEF50, asthma symptom checklist (Kinsman et al 1973), relaxation questionnaire (9 point Likert scale), daily medication consumption and symptoms as reported in a log, Semantic differential rating (Osgood, 1957) of treatment and relationship with relaxation therapist and respiratory physician. Outcomes for intervention groups measured at baseline and after each session. Control group had three measurement points (time not stated).
Notes	Lung function outcomes presented graphically. Sample size calculation done.
Allocation concealment	В
Study	Lehrer 1997
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Randomisation method: not stated. Outcome measurement method: described but not blinded. Withdrawals and dropouts: numbers given but not described. Iadad score: 1.

	Jadad score: 1.
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 17 randomised, 15 completed.
	Intervention 1-5, Intervention 2-6, Control-4.
	Age: 18-65 years (mean 37.8).
	Sex: Males 5, females 12.
	Asthma diagnosis by respiratory physician.
	Severity: not stated.

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

	Setting: not clear but may be hospital asthma clinic. Inclusion criteria: History of recurrent asthma in the prior 12 months, wheeze that responds to B2 aerosol therapy OR positive methacholine challenge test in the last 12 months OR bronchodilator response on the laboratory of >= 20% in FEV1; abnormal spirometry (FEV1< 80% or FEF50% < 60%) in prior 12 months. Exclusion criteria: Chronic bronchitis or sinusitis, emphysema or non-asthma respiratory disease, smoker, previous experience of a relaxation procedure, cardiovascular or neurological disease, psychiatric disorder requiring psychoactive medication or which might interfere with understanding of treatment procedures and/or co-operation with them.
Interventions	Intervention 1: Respiratory Sinus Arrythmia Biofeedback. RSA biofeedback given, then instruction given to increase amplitude of respiratory sinus rhythms. No relaxation or autogenic instructions were used. Intervention 2: EMG Biofeedback. Instruction given to relax shoulder muscles and breathe automatically. Electrodes measured thoracic muscle activity. Autogenic and progressive muscle relaxation methods used with incentive spirometry and EMG feedback. Control (waiting list): Three testing sessions at two week intervals where participants were told to relax with eyes open. 6 intervention sessions given at weekly intervals (30 minutes each). Training and testing done by same person (co-author), Profession not stated.
Outcomes	Respiratory impedance (ri); end tidal CO2; thoracic and abdominal breathing; peak respiratory flow; minute volume; heart "period" (R-R) intervals and amplitude, sensations of relaxation by Relaxation Inventory (Crist et al, 1989), Asthma symptoms (frequency of symptoms in previous week), Medication consumption Outcomes measured at one, four and six weeks.
Notes	No sample size calculation.
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Loew 2001
Methods	RCT (cross-over). Method of randomisation: computerised randomisation to two medical institutions and to three treatments. Outcome measurement: described and blinded. Withdrawals and dropouts: described. Jadad score: 3.
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 21 adults randomised, 16 completed. Intervention 1 (eFR): 18, Intervention 2 (IT): 19, Placebo (PRT): 21. Age: 23-74 years (mean 48.9). Sex: Males 7, females 14. Asthma diagnosed by history of asthma with current manifestation of reversible reduction in airway resistance. Severity: not stated. Setting: Outpatients clinic at two medical institutions in Germany. Inclusion criteria: History of asthma with current reversible reduction in airways resistance; no oral corticos- teroids for duration of trial. Exclusion criteria: acute dyspnoea, sputum production, fever, chronic bronchitis, no bronchoconstriction on a treatment day (this meant patient was withdrawn from study).
Interventions	<ul> <li>Intervention 1: Functional relaxation (eFR). Instruction given while patient sitting in the cabin of the body plethysmograph. The patients then practiced these instruction while measurements were taken. Intervention 2: Inhaled terbutaline (IT). 1x0.5mg dose of terbutaline given. Pulmonary function tests were carried out after 5 minutes.</li> <li>Placebo relaxation technique (PRT).</li> <li>Based on isotonic exercises of one hand in conditions comparable to the eFR intervention.</li> <li>Instructions given for minutes. All three therapies received in course of 3 consecutive days.</li> <li>Training delivered by trained therapist, same therapist supervised administration of terbutaline.</li> </ul>

	No analysis for carry over effects.
Outcomes	Airways resistance (Raw); specific airways resistance (sRaw), FEV1, PEF, MEF 50, MEF 75. Outcomes measured before and after each therapy. Responder analysis also done. Responders defined as achieving a decrease of at least 20% in sRaw and increase in FEV1.
Notes	No sample size calculation. Each person had each intervention on different days except 2 missed IT and 3 missed eFR as they had no bronchoconstriction that day.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Mussell 1988	
Methods	RCT (cross-over). Method of randomisation: not described. Outcome assessment: described, but confusing as not stated who performed assessments- study described as double blind. Withdrawals and dropouts: not described. Jadad score: 2.	
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 16 adults randomised to exercise challenge or hyperventilation challenge, then half of each group randomised to biofeedback training. Dropout rate not stated. Age: 22-44 years. Sex: Males 11, females 5. Asthma diagnosis confirmed by a testing if FEV1 would fall by at least 20% following a standardised hyperventilation challenge. Severity: not stated. Setting: not stated, ? Chest clinic in UK. Inclusion criteria: A fall in FEV1 of at least 20% after a standardised hyperventilation challenge. All subjects refrained from using their anti-asthma medication for at least 12 hours before visiting the laboratory. Exclusion criteria: History of cardiopulmonary disorders other than asthma.	
Interventions	After randomisation into two groups of 8 for exercise or hyperventilation challenge tests, half of each of these two groups were randomly assigned to biofeedback training or control. The others were untrained. Subjects then given 5 randomly ordered interventions- 1) active bronchodilator 2) placebo bronchodilator 3) correct biofeedback (using tracheal noise and feedback on FEV1 changes) 4) wrong biofeedback (wrong information is fed back to the subject) 5) no treatment. A second challenge test was administered 40 minutes after the first challenge to observe for refractory effects. All interventions (or control) were given double blind over 5 visits. Length of study not stated. Person delivering interventions not stated. No analysis for carry over effects.	
Outcomes	FEV1 measured at baseline, 1,4, and 8 minutes after the challenge, then at 2 minutes and every 5 minutes after treatment (given at 10 minutes) until lung function back to within 10% of baseline values. Eysenck personality inventory: extraversion and neuroticism sub scales measured after the final test session in order to correlate personality type with recovery rates.	
Notes	No sample size calculation. All FEV1 data presented graphically.	
Allocation concealment	A	
Study	Payette 1977	
Methods	RCT (parallel design).	

.11003	(parallel design).
	Method of randomisation: not stated. Outcome assessment described but not blinded. Withdrawals and
	dropouts not described.
	Jadad score 1.

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

Participants

Copyright ©2005 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd

Number eligible not stated. 18 adults randomised.

	Intervention: 11, Control: 7
	Dropout rate not stated.
	Age: 22-67 years.
	Sex: 5 males, 13 females.
	Asthma diagnosis by medical diagnosis.
	Severity of asthma not stated.
	Setting: Asthma and allergy outpatient clinic at Tucson Medical Center, Arizona, USA.
	Inclusion criteria: Primary medical diagnosis of asthma, in adequate health to complete the study, over age of 18, patient of the asthma clinic.
Interventions	Intervention:EMG biofeedback training-surface electrodes applied to lower frontalis muscle, subjects told to relax using biofeedback auditory and visual signals from frontalis muscle area. Told by lowering tone and microvolt setting they were relaxing. Control: Instructions to relax as best they could while reclining in comfortable recliner chair. 12 treatment sessions given over 20 minutes. Length of study not stated. Intervention given by investigator.
Outcomes	Blood pressure; Pulmonary function tests- FVC, FEV1, %FEV1/FVC; Schedule of Recent Experiences (SRE); Taylor-Johnson Temperament Analysis (Taylor et al 1974). Outcomes measured at baseline. Blood pressure and pulmonary function tests measured before and after each session. At 2 post-baseline sessions after the treatment sessions the SRE and The Taylor-Johnson Temperament Analysis were administered. All outcomes were also measured at 30 days following the last session.
Notes	No sample size calculation. Results presented graphically and by statistical tables, mean scores not presented.
Allocation concealment	D

Study	Put 2003	
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Method of randomisation: drawing of envelopes. Outcome assessment: performed by independent researchers unaware of treatment allocation. Withdrawals and dropouts: described. Jadad score 4	
Participants	<ul> <li>Number eligible 101. 25 adults randomised with one drop out from each group.</li> <li>Intervention: 12.</li> <li>Waiting list control: 11.</li> <li>Age: mean 43 years in intervention</li> <li>group, mean 48 years in control group.</li> <li>Sex: males 11, females 12.</li> <li>Asthma diagnosis by ATS criteria at least 6 months earlier.</li> <li>Severity: Mild 7, Moderate 15, Severe 1.</li> <li>Setting: University hospital outpatient pulmonary clinic, Belgium.</li> <li>Inclusion criteria: Asthma diagnosis using ATS criteria at least 6 months earlier. Experience of asthma complaints and impairment despite adequate medical treatment.</li> <li>Exclusion criteria: Aged less than 18 or over 65 years, occupational asthma, nicotine, drug or alcohol abuse absence of asthma symptoms during the last 6 months, brittle asthma, previous participation in an educationa or other asthma programme.</li> </ul>	
Interventions	Intervention: Psycho-educational programme where the patients' personal illness representations, or their cognitions regarding origin, symptoms, course and therapy of their illness were identified. Information about the pathophysiology of asthma, mechanisms of medication, eliciting factors etc. was provided in an interactive way. Behavioural techniques such as self-monitoring/self observation, stimulus control, and response control were also taught. Certain parts of the programme were elaborated upon according to individual need.	

	Control: waiting list. Programme delivered by two independent researchers. Profession not stated. Delivered over 3 months in 6 one hour individual sessions.
Outcomes	Health related limitations in quality of life during the past 2 weeks assessed by McMaster Asthma Quality of Life Questionnaire (Juniper et al, 1992), Subjective symptomatology of asthma measured by Asthma Symptom checklist (Kinsman et al 1973), Negative affectivity as a personality trait including negative emotional conditions (irritability, nervousness, emotional instability was measured by Negative Emotionality Scale (Tellegen et al, 1988). Frequency of non-adherent behavior was measured by The Adherent Scale (Brooks et al, 1994). Patients' knowledge regarding asthma, attitude towards the illness, and self-efficacy regarding perceived ability to control the disorder was measured by The Knowledge, Attitude, and Self -efficacy Asthma Questionnaire (KASE-AQ) (Wigal et al, 1993). Outcome measurement was done at baseline, 3 months and 6 months for the control group; baseline, immediately after the treatment interventions and 3 months later for the intervention group. Assessment done by researchers blind to the treatment allocation. PEF was measured by the subjects at home twice daily during 14 consecutive days.
Notes	No sample size calculation. Randomisation method is unclear, states done by sealed envelopes but no de- scription of method is given. Between group analysis done by repeated measures analysis of variance.
Allocation concealment	В

Study	Sommaruga 1995	
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Method of randomisation: Not clear in paper but used computerised randomisation tables (from correspon- dence with MS). Outcome measurement: described but not stated as blinded. Withdrawals and dropouts: not described. Jadad score: 2.	
Participants	Number eligible not stated. 40 randomised, 36 completed. Intervention- 20, control-16. Age: mean 48.0 range not reported. Sex: Males 21, females 19. Asthma diagnosis according to ATS criteria (1987). Severity: not stated, all using drug therapy. In-patients with asthma. Setting: Hospital Respiratory Department in Italy (inpatients). Inclusion criteria: Asthma diagnosed according to ATS guidelines. Exclusion criteria not stated.	
Interventions	Intervention: Asthma Rehabilitation group involving education and cognitive behavioural intervention with medical treatment following international guidelines. Control: Medical treatment following international guidelines. Education programme was delivered by physician, physiotherapist and psychologist twice during admission and quarterly for 12 months. Cognitive behavioural intervention delivered by psychologist during 3 individual meetings.	
Outcomes	Trait anxiety measured by STAI (Spielberger et al. 1970); Depression, assessed by QD questionnaire; Psy- chophysiological disorders, assessed by QPF from Cognitive behavioural assessment questionnaire (Sanavio et al. 1986); emotional reactions to asthmatic crises, assessed by Asthma Symptom Checklist (Kinsman et al. 1973) in Italian version; Optimism, negative staff regard, specific internal awareness, external control psy- chological stigma, authoritarian attitude, assessed by Respiratory Illness Opinion Survey (Staudenmayer et al. 1978); Internal beliefs, external powerful others and external chance assessed by Health Locus of Control Scale (Wallston et al. 1976) (Italian Version). Outcomes measured at baseline and at one year.	
Notes	No sample size calculation, Within group analysis only.	

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

Allocation concealment B

Study	Wagaman 2000	
Methods	RCT (parallel design). Method of randomisation: Following hypnotic susceptibility and psychometric testing, participants were stratified according to hypnotic susceptibility (large representation (46%) of highly hypnotisable subjects). Randomised to three groups. Randomisation method not described. Outcome assessment: Assessments and medical examinations blinded, but investigator performed interven- tions and delivered psychometric assessments. Withdrawals and dropouts: 9 withdrawals, no description given. Jadad score: 2.	
Participants	<ul> <li>Number eligible: 90. 45 met inclusion criteria after interview.</li> <li>30 adults randomised, 21 completed.</li> <li>Intervention 1: hypnotic control group- symptom control (7), Intervention 2: Hypnotic suggestion group immune function and airway relaxation (7), Placebo control (7).</li> <li>Age: 19-65 years (mean 41.0)</li> <li>Sex: Males 3, Females 18.</li> <li>Asthma diagnosed by physicians.</li> <li>Severity of asthma: Moderate to moderately severe- classified using National Institute of Health Guidelines Setting: Allergy and Immunology private practice.</li> <li>Inclusion criteria: Full time local residents, non-smokers at present, inexperience with hypnosis and othe similar techniques, not receiving immunotherapy.</li> <li>Exclusion criteria: History of past or present psychiatric disorders, past or present psychotropic drug use significant secondary gain, significant psychosocial problems, recent major loss (death, job, divorce).</li> </ul>	
Interventions	<ul> <li>Intervention 1: Hypnotic control group with taped hypnotic sessions directed at symptom relief througl ability to relax smooth airway muscle. Intervention 2: Hypnotic suggestion group, taped hypnotic session directed at improvement of immune function, resolution of inflammation and biochemical relief of bron chospasm.</li> <li>Control: Non hypnotic placebo group, taped session of neurophonic tones- told may or may not contain subliminal suggestions pertaining to asthma care and control.</li> <li>6 sessions for each group delivered by hypnosis therapist (author), 3 one week apart, 3 reinforcement session delivered at 3 month intervals. Tapes used by participants daily and for symptom relief.</li> </ul>	
Outcomes	<ul> <li>Daily patient diaries of PEF, asthma symptom score, frequency of use of PRN medication, work/school absences, private doctor visits, emergency room visits, and hospitalisations. Recorded for 3 to 4 months before sessions commenced and for one year afterwards.</li> <li>Initial and final interview done.</li> <li>Clinical assessments done every 3 months by physicians blind to group allocation- FEV1, FEF 25-75%, PEF.</li> <li>Psychometric testing done by author at baseline and one year follow up. Eysenck Personality Inventory to measure neuroticism, extraversion, and lying. Marlowe-Crowne Social Desirability Scale (Crowne &amp; Marlowe 1960) to measure repressive coping. STAI (Spielberger et al. 1970) to measure anxiety. Self-control schedule (Rosenbaum 1980) to measure the solution of behavioural problems. Dysfunctional Cognition Inventory (Zocco 1984)- catastrophizing scale, Asthma Symptom Checklist (Kinsman et al. 1973).</li> </ul>	
Notes	No sample size calculation. Data presented in graphical form. Mainly within group analysis.	
Allocation concealment	C	

Abbreviations-

ATS American Thoracic Society, EMG- Electro-myogram, FEF- Forced expiratory flow, FEV1- Forced expiratory volume over one second, FEV1/FVC- ratio of FEV1 and FVC, FRC- Functional residual capacity, FVC- Forced vital capacity, MEF- Mid expiratory

flow, PEF- Peak expiratory flow, RCT- Randomised controlled trial, RV- Residual volume, SD- Standard Deviation, STAI- State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, VC- Vital capacity.

# Characteristics of excluded studies

Allen 1995         RCT of a self-management programme           Anon 1968         RCT of hypnosis in adults and children. Unable to separate data           Bailey 1990         RCT of a self-management programme. Intervention was mainly education with a small element of counseling           Barendregt 1957         CCT of Group psychotherapy           Ben-Zvi 1982         Before and after study of hypnosis           Boulet 1995         CCT of an education only programme           Cambach 1997         RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients           Clark 1997         RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Cone 1996         RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Conte 1981         Review of psychotherapy tor medically ill patients           Cox 1991         CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes adults and COPD patients. Unable to separate data           Devine 1996         Meta-analysis of psychotherapion of asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate data           Devine 1981         Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)           Devine 1996         Meta-analysis of psychotherapy in adults and children (before and after study)           Franco 1982         CCT of hypnosis           Fujii 1997         Case study of step-down management of asthma	Ago 1976	CCT of teaching patients about the mind-body relationship		
Bailey 1990         RCT of a self-management programme. Intervention was mainly education with a small element of counseling           Barendregt 1957         CCT of Group psychotherapy           Ben-Zvi 1982         Before and after study of hypnosis           Boulet 1995         CCT of an education only programme           Cambach 1997         RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients           Clark 1997         Review of self-management education programmes           Cone 1996         RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Cone 1991         CCT of relaxition. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Deter 1981         Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients           Cox 1991         CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Deter 1983         Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)           Deterin 1996         Meta-analysis of psychocducational care           Erskine-Milliss 1987         Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)           Franco 1982         CCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and children           Grover 2002         CCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and children           Grover 2002         CCT of biofeedback training	Allen 1995	RCT of a self-management programme		
Barendregt 1957         CCT of Group psychotherapy           Ben-Zvi 1982         Before and after study of hypnosis           Boulet 1995         CCT of an education only programme           Cambach 1997         RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients           Ciurluini 1993         CCT of psychotherapy techniques           Clark 1997         Review of self-management education programmes           Coen 1996         RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Conte 1981         Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients           Cox 1991         CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate data           Deter 1983a         Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Detr 1983)           Deterin996         Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care           Erskiner-Millis 1987         Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)           Franco 1982         CCT of hypnosis           Fujii 1997         Case study of step-down management of asthma           Grover 2002         CCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and children           Grover 2002         CCT of hypnosis in adults and children with asthma           Hackman 2000         Review of behavioural Intereview to assess patients' attitudes according to cli	Anon 1968	RCT of hypnosis in adults and children. Unable to separate data		
Ben-Zvi 1982         Before and after study of hypnosis           Boulet 1995         CCT of an education only programme           Cambach 1997         RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients           Clark 1997         Review of self-management education programmes           Cone 1996         RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Conte 1981         Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients           Conte 1981         Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)           Deter 1983a         Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)           Devine 1996         Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care           Erskine-Milliss 1987         Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)           Franco 1982         CCT of rhypnosis           Fujii 1997         Case study of step-down management of asthma           Gonen 1960         Clinical study, not controlled or randomised           Grover 2002         CCT of biofeedback training           Haize-Joshu 1993         Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attritudes according to clinical setting           Haijar 1999         Review of behavioural interview to assess patients' attritudes according to clinical setting           Haijar 1999         Review of ps	Bailey 1990	RCT of a self-management programme. Intervention was mainly education with a small element of counseling		
Boulet 1995         CCT of an education only programme           Cambach 1997         RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients           Clark 1997         Review of self-management education programmes           Coen 1996         RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data           Conte 1981         Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients           Cox 1991         CCT of relabilitation. Study includes adults and COPD patients. Unable to separate data           Deter 1983a         Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)           Devine 1996         Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care           Erskine-Milliss 1987         Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)           Franco 1982         CCT of hypnosis           Fujii 1997         Case study of step-down management of asthma           Ghosh 1998         RCT of calf-management without psychotherapy in adults and children           Grover 2002         CCT of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy           Hackman 2000         Review of bypnosis in adults and children with asthma           Haire-Joshu 1993         Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical setting           Hajar 1999         Review of behavioural interventions in asthma           Haire-Joshu 1993	Barendregt 1957	CCT of Group psychotherapy		
Cambach 1997       RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients         Ciurluini 1993       CCT of psychotherapy techniques         Clark 1997       Review of self-management education programmes         Coen 1996       RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data         Conte 1981       Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients         Cox 1991       CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate data         Deter 1983a       Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)         Devine 1996       Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care         Erskine-Milliss 1987       Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)         Franco 1982       CCT of hypnosis         Fujii 1997       Case study of step-down management of asthma         Grover 2002       CCT of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy         Hackman 2000       Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthma         Haire-Joshu 1993       Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical setting         Hajjar 1999       Review of behavioural interventions in asthma         Harding 1982       CCT of biofeedback training         Harding 1982       CCT of biofeedback apparatus         Hurtley 2002 <t< td=""><td>Ben-Zvi 1982</td><td>Before and after study of hypnosis</td></t<>	Ben-Zvi 1982	Before and after study of hypnosis		
Ciurluini 1993       CCT of psychotherapy techniques         Clark 1997       Review of self-management education programmes         Coen 1996       RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data         Conte 1981       Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients         Cox 1991       CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate data         Deter 1983a       Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)         Detin 1996       Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care         Erskine-Milliss 1987       Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)         Franco 1982       CCT of hypnosis         Fujii 1997       Case study of step-down management of asthma         Ghosh 1998       RCT of Self-management without psychotherapy in adults and children         Groer 2002       CCT of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy         Hackman 2000       Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthma         Haire-Joshu 1993       Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical setting         Hajar 1999       Review of behavioural interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical setting         Hajar 1999       Review of psychosomatic therapies in a before and after study         Hirokawa 1992       CCT of biofeedback training	Boulet 1995	CCT of an education only programme		
Clark 1997       Review of self-management education programmes         Coen 1996       RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data         Conte 1981       Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients         Cox 1991       CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate data         Deter 1983a       Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)         Devine 1996       Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care         Erskine-Milliss 1987       Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)         France 1982       CCT of hypnosis         Fujii 1997       Case study of step-down management of asthma         Ghosh 1998       RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and children         Grover 2002       CCT of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy         Hackman 2000       Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthma         Haire-Joshu 1993       Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical setting         Hajjar 1999       Review of behavioural interventions in asthma         Harding 1982       CCT of biofeedback training         Hashizume 1996       Psychosomatic therapies for asthma         Jonckheere 1997       Review of relaxation therapies for asthma         Jonckheere 1997       Review of relaxat	Cambach 1997	RCT of pulmonary rehabilitation including asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients		
CoenISP6RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate dataConte 1981Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patientsCox 1991CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate dataDeter 1983aCost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)Devine 1996Meta-analysis of psychoeducational careErskine-Milliss 1987Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFuji 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrove 2002CCT of forgonitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHarding 1982CCT of biofeedback trainingHarding 1982CCT of biofeedback trainingHarding 1982CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of psychosomatic itsues in a tange of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988R	Ciurluini 1993	CCT of psychotherapy techniques		
Conte 1981Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patientsCox 1991CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate dataDeter 1983aCost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)Devine 1996Meta-analysis of psychoeducational careErskine-Milliss 1987Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajir 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies for asthmaHundey 2002Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kapetin 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management programmes	Clark 1997	Review of self-management education programmes		
Cox 1991CCT of rehabilitation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate dataDeter 1983aCost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)Devine 1996Meta-analysis of psychoeducational careErskine-Milliss 1987Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies for and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Coen 1996	RCT of relaxation. Study includes adults and children. Unable to separate data		
Deter 1983aCost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)Devine 1996Meta-analysis of psychoeducational careErskine-Milliss 1987Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Conte 1981	Review of psychotherapy for medically ill patients		
Devine 1996Meta-analysis of psychoeducational careErskine-Milliss 1987Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Cox 1991	CCT of rehabiltation. Study includes asthma and COPD patients. Unable to separate data		
Erskine-Milliss 1987Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management programmes	Deter 1983a	Cost effectiveness study based on data of included study (Deter 1983)		
Franco 1982CCT of hypnosisFujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Devine 1996	Meta-analysis of psychoeducational care		
Fujii 1997Case study of step-down management of asthmaGhosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Erskine-Milliss 1987	Two studies of biofeedback in adults and children (before and after study)		
Ghosh 1998RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and childrenGroen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Franco 1982	CCT of hypnosis		
Groen 1960Clinical study, not controlled or randomisedGrover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Fujii 1997	Case study of step-down management of asthma		
Grover 2002CCT of Cognitive Behavioural TherapyHackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajiar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Ghosh 1998	RCT of self-management without psychotherapy in adults and children		
Hackman 2000Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthmaHaire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Groen 1960	Clinical study, not controlled or randomised		
Haire-Joshu 1993Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical settingHajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Grover 2002	CCT of Cognitive Behavioural Therapy		
Hajjar 1999Review of behavioural interventions in asthmaHarding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Hackman 2000	Review of hypnosis in adults and children with asthma		
Harding 1982CCT Of biofeedback trainingHashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Haire-Joshu 1993	Survey, focus groups and interview to assess patients' attitudes according to clinical setting		
Hashizume 1996Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after studyHirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Hajjar 1999	Review of behavioural interventions in asthma		
Hirokawa 1992CCT of biofeedback apparatusHuntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Harding 1982	CCT Of biofeedback training		
Huntley 2002Review of relaxation therapies for asthmaJonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Hashizume 1996	Psychosomatic therapies in a before and after study		
Jonckheere 1997Review of psychosomatic issues in a range of diseasesKang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Hirokawa 1992	CCT of biofeedback apparatus		
Kang 1993Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Huntley 2002	Review of relaxation therapies for asthma		
Kaptein 1987Review (COPD)Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Jonckheere 1997	-		
Kern-Buell 2000Adults and children included in RCT on relaxationKhateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Kang 1993	Before and after study of the impact of psychological factors in adolescents.		
Khateeb 1995Meta-analysis of psychotherapyKlingelhofer 1988Review of asthma self-management programmesKolbe 1996Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Kaptein 1987	Review (COPD)		
Klingelhofer 1988       Review of asthma self-management programmes         Kolbe 1996       Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Kern-Buell 2000	Adults and children included in RCT on relaxation		
Kolbe 1996 Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study	Khateeb 1995	Meta-analysis of psychotherapy		
	Klingelhofer 1988	Review of asthma self-management programmes		
Kotses 1991 CCT of self-management without psychotherapy	Kolbe 1996	Knowledge of self-management outcome measure validity study		
	Kotses 1991	CCT of self-management without psychotherapy		

Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma (Review)

Characteristics	of excluded	studies	(Continued)
-----------------	-------------	---------	-------------

Kotese 1996         RCT of self-management, primarily education although some received a relaxation tape           Lahdensuo 1996         RCT of a self-management programme           Laidlaw 1994         Before and after study of hypnosis           Lehrer 1986         CCT of relaxation and biofeedback           Lehrer 1993         Review of psychological approaches in asthma           Lehrer 1997         Analysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.           Levendd 1980         Narrative review of the biofeedback method           Levendd 1980         Review of complementary therapies in asthma           Linden 1994         Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases           Low 1996         Before and after study of functional relaxation           Mass 1988         CCT of a clucation and behaviour modification intervention           Mats 1973         Review of the tratment of bronchospasm (including psychological)           More 1965         CCT of hypnoric susceptibility and relaxation           Nagat 1995         Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment           Negley-Parker 1986         Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness           Peper 1992         CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback           Richter 1987         Review of psychosomati	Kotses 1995	RCT of self-management without psychotherapy		
Lidlaw 1994       Before and after study of hypnosis         Lehrer 1986       CCT of relaxation and biofeedback         Lehrer 1992       Review of psychological approaches in asthma         Lehrer 1993       Review of the relationship between emotion and asthma         Lehrer 1997A       Analysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.         Levendel 1980       Narrative review of the biofeedback method         Levendel 1980       Review of complementary therapies in asthma         Linden 1994       Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases         Levev 1996       Before and after study of functional relaxation         Mass 1988       CCT of an education and behaviour modification intervention         Mats 1973       Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)         Moore 1965       CCT of hehavioural therapy. Adults and children included in study         Murphy 1989       CCT of behavioural and descnsitization         Negley-Parker 1986       Case report of hyprobiterapy of families of children with chronic ilness         Peper 1992       CCT of behavioural and elexation programme using biofeedback         Richter 1987       Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthma         Richter 1987       Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthma         Richter 1987	Kotses 1996	RCT of self-management, primarily education although some received a relaxation tape		
Lehrer 1986         CCT of relaxation and biofeedback           Lehrer 1992         Review of psychological approaches in asthma           Lehrer 1993         Review of the relationship between emotion and asthma           Lehrer 1997a         Analysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.           Levendel 1980         Narrative review of the biofeedback method           Levith 1996         Review of complementary therapies in asthma           Linden 1994         Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases           Loew 1996         Before and after study of functional relaxation           Mass 1988         CCT of ne aclucation and behaviour modification intervention           Mats 1973         Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)           Moore 1965         CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxation           Nagat 1995         Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment           Negley-Parker 1986         Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness           Peper 1992         CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback           Richter 1987         Review of psychosomatic apects of asthma           Richter 1982         Review of psychosomatic apects of asthma           Richter 1987         Review of behavioural therapy and rel	Lahdensuo 1996	RCT of a self-management programme		
Lehrer 1992         Review of psychological approaches in asthma           Lehrer 1993         Review of the relationship between emotion and asthma           Lehrer 1997a         Analysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.           Levendel 1980         Narrative review of the biofeedback method           Levendel 1980         Review of complementary therapies in asthma           Linden 1994         Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases           Locw 1996         Before and after study of functional relaxation           Mats 1973         Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)           Moore 1965         CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in study           Murphy 1989         CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxation           Nagata 1995         Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment           Neglcy-Parker 1986         Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness           Peper 1992         CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback           Richter 1987         Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthma           Richter 1987         Review of relaxation therapies for asthma           Sach 1992         CCT of relaxation trianing           Sach 1993         CCT of relaxation trianing     <	Laidlaw 1994	Before and after study of hypnosis		
Lehrer 1993         Review of the relationship between emotion and asthma           Lehrer 1997a         Analysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.           Lewendel 1980         Narrative review of the biofeedback method           Lewith 1996         Review of complementary therapies in asthma           Linden 1994         Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases           Loew 1996         Before and after study of functional relaxation           Mass 1988         CCT of an education and behaviour modification intervention           Mats 1973         Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)           Moore 1965         CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in study           Murphy 1989         CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxation           Nagata 1995         Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment           Negley-Parker 1986         Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness           Peper 1992         CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback           Richter 1987         Review of self-management without psychotherapy           Riz 2001         Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthma           Schafer 1975         CCT of self-management without psychotherapy           Stafer 1975	Lehrer 1986	CCT of relaxation and biofeedback		
Lehrer 1997aAnalysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.Levendel 1980Narrative review of the biofeedblack methodLewith 1996Review of complementary therapies in asthmaLinden 1994Review of autogenic training in a range of diseasesLoew 1996Before and after study of functional relaxationMass 1988CCT of an education and behaviour modification interventionMatts 1973Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagtat 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessReper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of self-trainingSucr 1987RCT of self-trainingSalar 1987RCT of self-trainingSalar 1987RCT of self-trainingSalar 1987RCT of patients without psychotherapySiyder 1987RCT of patients without psychotherapySiyder 1987RCT of patients without psychotherapySiyder 1987RCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of inferention interventio	Lehrer 1992	Review of psychological approaches in asthma		
and autonomic control of the heart.Levendel 1980Narrative review of the biofeedback methodLewith 1996Review of complementary therapies in asthmaLinden 1994Review of autogenic training in a range of diseasesLoew 1996Before and after study of functional relaxationMaes 1988CCT of an education and behaviour modification interventionMars 1973Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural therapy and relaxationRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRiz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSach 1993CCT of relaxation therapies for asthmaSach 1993CCT of self-trainingSach 1994RCT of self-trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of group therapySinder 1987RCT of self-trainingSchaeffer 1987RCT of self-trainingSeles 1988RCT of of elucation intervention (non-trandomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of biofeedback, non asthmat	Lehrer 1993	Review of the relationship between emotion and asthma		
Lewith 1996Review of complementary therapies in asthmaLinden 1994Review of autogenic training in a range of diseasesLoew 1996Before and after study of functional relaxationMaes 1988CCT of an education and behaviour modification interventionMatts 1973Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic appets of asthmaRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRingsberg 1990Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of self-raningSchaeffer 1975CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Steptos 1991RCT of autogenic trainingSuttare 1997RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga	Lehrer 1997a	Analysis of data from 1994 study (included) to study the physiological relationship between pulmonary function and autonomic control of the heart.		
Linden 1994Review of autogenic training in a range of diseasesLoew 1996Before and after study of functional relaxationMaes 1988CCT of an education and behaviour modification interventionMatts 1973Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of familites of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1987Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of self-rainingSalare 1975CCT of self-rainingSchaffer 1975CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-rainingSigns 1988RCT of elducation intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Siepsas 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Sieptor 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Sieptor 1981CCT of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complement	Levendel 1980	Narrative review of the biofeedback method		
Loew 1996Before and after study of functional relaxationMaes 1988CCT of an education and behaviour modification interventionMatts 1973Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of autogenic trainingSauer 1978CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1987RCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of belaviour intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepas 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTViskers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 197	Lewith 1996	Review of complementary therapies in asthma		
Maes 1988         CCT of an education and behaviour modification intervention           Matts 1973         Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)           Moore 1965         CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in study           Murphy 1989         CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxation           Nagata 1995         Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment           Negley-Parker 1986         Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness           Peper 1992         CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback           Richter 1982         Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthma           Richter 1987         Review of behavioural therapy and relaxation           Ringsberg 1990         RCT of self-management without psychotherapy           Ritz 2001         Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthma           Sachs 1993         CCT of autogenic training           Salar 1975         CCT of self-raining           Sclare 1957         CCT of self-management without psychotherapy           Spiess 1988         RCT of self-management without psychotherapy           Spiess 1988         RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)           Stepans 2000         RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.           Steptoe 1981 <td>Linden 1994</td> <td>Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases</td>	Linden 1994	Review of autogenic training in a range of diseases		
Matts 1973Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of solf-trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of solf-trainingSchaeffer 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchViders 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Crose-over study of transcendental meditation	Loew 1996	Before and after study of functional relaxation		
Moore 1965CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in studyMurphy 1989CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxationNagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRiz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSaken 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of self-trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1988RCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapyStepans 2000RCT of self-management without psychotherapyStepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuh 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cros-over study of transcend	Maes 1988	CCT of an education and behaviour modification intervention		
Murphy 1989       CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxation         Nagata 1995       Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment         Negley-Parker 1986       Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness         Peper 1992       CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback         Richter 1982       Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthma         Richter 1987       Review of behavioural therapy and relaxation         Ringsberg 1990       RCT of self-management without psychotherapy         Ritz 2001       Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthma         Sachs 1993       CCT of autogenic training         Sauer 1978       CCT of self-training         Sclare 1957       CCT of group therapy         Snyder 1987       RCT of self-management without psychotherapy         Spiess 1988       RCT of self-management without psychotherapy         Spiess 1988       RCT of self-management without psychotherapy         Spiess 1988       RCT of delacation intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)         Stepans 2000       RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.         Stepans 2000       RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers included         Stout 1997       RCT of bioredback, non asthmatic volunteers included         Stout 1997       RC	Matts 1973	Review of the treatment of bronchospasm (including psychological)		
Nagata 1995Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatmentNegley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-management without psychotherapySystematic review of preatmangSchaeffer 1975Sclare 1957CCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of ducation intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptor 1981CCT of breathing retraining onlyStutt 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStutt 1997RCT of preventing retraining onlyStutt 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesVidears 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Moore 1965	CCT of behavioural therapy. Adults and children included in study		
Negley-Parker 1986Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilnessPeper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSclare 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of self-management without psychotherapyStepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Murphy 1989	CCT of hypnotic susceptibility and relaxation		
Peper 1992CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedbackRichter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSauer 1977CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Nagata 1995	Before and after study of a psychosomatic treatment		
Richter 1982Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthmaRichter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of beathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Negley-Parker 1986	Case report of hypnotherapy of families of children with chronic ilness		
Richter 1987Review of behavioural therapy and relaxationRingsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Peper 1992	CCT of behavioural and desensitization programme using biofeedback		
Ringsberg 1990RCT of self-management without psychotherapyRitz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptor 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Richter 1982	Review of psychosomatic aspects of asthma		
Ritz 2001Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthmaSachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Richter 1987	Review of behavioural therapy and relaxation		
Sachs 1993CCT of relaxation trainingSauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Ringsberg 1990	RCT of self-management without psychotherapy		
Sauer 1978CCT of autogenic trainingSchaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Ritz 2001	Systematic review of relaxation therapies for asthma		
Schaeffer 1975CCT of self-trainingSclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Sachs 1993	CCT of relaxation training		
Sclare 1957CCT of group therapySnyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Sauer 1978	CCT of autogenic training		
Snyder 1987RCT of self-management without psychotherapySpiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Schaeffer 1975	CCT of self-training		
Spiess 1988RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Sclare 1957	CCT of group therapy		
Stepans 2000RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Snyder 1987	RCT of self-management without psychotherapy		
Steptoe 1981CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers includedStout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Spiess 1988	RCT of education intervention (non-randomised sub group received relaxation therapy)		
Stout 1997RCT of breathing retraining onlyStuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Stepans 2000	RCT of patients with asthma and COPD. Unable to separate data.		
Stuhr 1996Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy researchVedanthan 1998Yoga RCTVickers 1997Survey and review of complementary therapiesWilson 1975Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Steptoe 1981	CCT of biofeedback, non asthmatic volunteers included		
Vedanthan 1998       Yoga RCT         Vickers 1997       Survey and review of complementary therapies         Wilson 1975       Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Stout 1997	RCT of breathing retraining only		
Vickers 1997     Survey and review of complementary therapies       Wilson 1975     Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Stuhr 1996	Review of psychosomatic and psychotherapy research		
Wilson 1975     Cross-over study of transcendental meditation	Vedanthan 1998	Yoga RCT		
	Vickers 1997	Survey and review of complementary therapies		
Wilson 1993 RCT of self-management without psychotherapy	Wilson 1975	Cross-over study of transcendental meditation		
	Wilson 1993	RCT of self-management without psychotherapy		

# Characteristics of ongoing studies

Study	Harrison			
Trial name or title	The Coping with Asthma Study: A randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of a home-based coping skills training programme for high risk asthma sufferers.			
Participants	92 patients aged 15-66 (mean 36.46) recruited mainly from 5 hospital respiratory departments in Norfolk and Suffolk with a small number recruited from general practice. The setting for the study is the community (patient's homes) with the intervention co-ordinated via the lead hospital. Patients are recruited on the basis that they have severe asthma as indicated by them being on British Thoracic Society Step 4/5 treatment and/or having had previous admissions for asthma. The patients are also deemed to be at risk of future adverse asthma outcomes due to failure to attend clinic appointments or comply with their asthma management in other ways (e.g. non-compliance with medication or changes in medication, failure to keep peak flow records when asked)			
Interventions	Four fortnightly home visits of approximately one hour in length conducted by an asthma nurse for two months, supplemented by phone calls between visits and monthly for four months after the last visit, making a 6 month intervention in total. Patients are also able to phone the asthma nurse throughout and after the duration of the intervention. The nurse provides asthma education, self-management and coping skills training and, with clinical supervision from a general practitioner with psychiatric training and Health Psychologist, aims to address co-existing psychosocial problems which compromise effective asthma management. The intervention takes a cognitive behavioural approach and involves liaison with/referral to other medical, psychological or social services as necessary. The control group continues with routine care comprising usual use of primary, secondary and emergency health services which varies to some degree across the hospitals involved.			
Outcomes	Primary outcome: Asthma control assessed via a score from a brief questionnaire asking about asthma symptoms in the past month (questionnaire based on recommendations from Royal College of Physicians Asthma Outcomes seminar 1999, used in previous local studies, reliability and validity work being undertaken). Secondary outcomes: Quality of life assessed via the Living with Asthma Questionnaire (Hyland) and Short Form 36 (Ware et al). Economic evaluation will also involve assessment of direct health care, social service and patient costs and indirect costs. Additional/explanatory outcomes: Psychiatric morbidity assessed via the General Health Questionnaire 12 and Hospital Anxiety & Depression Scale, attack and everyday coping assessed via the Asthma Coping Questionnaire (Maes & Schlosser), perceived control assesed via the Perceived Control of Asthma Questionnaire (Katz et al), attack management and compliance assessed via 2 subscales of the Revised Asthma Problem Behavior Checklist (Creer et al) and compliance scale of Moriskey, readiness to change asthma self management behavour assessed via an Asthma Stage of Change Questionnaire developed for the study and supplemented with additional questions on performance of self management behaviours (trigger avoidance, peak flow			

### Characteristics of ongoing studies (Continued)

	monitoring, smoking, exercise etc.)	
	Outcomes are assessed via self administered questionnaires completed by	
	patients during interviews in their home conducted at baseline and 2, 6 and	
	12 months after entry into the study. The primary endpoint is 6 months (the	
	end of the intervention for those receiving the nurse programme).	
Starting date	September 1999	
Contact information	Study researcher: Jane Smith, School of Medicine, Health Policy & Practice,	
	University of East Anglia, Norwich, NR4 7TJ, UK. Email: j.r.smith@	
	uea.ac.uk, Phone: 01603 593584	
	Principal investigator: Dr Brian Harrison, Department of Respiratory	
	Medicine, Norfolk & Norwich University Hospital NHS Trust, Colney Lane,	
	Norwich, NR4 7UY, UK. Email: brian.harrison@norfolk-norwich.thenhs.com,	
	Phone: 01603 289642.	
Notes	Expected completion early 2003	
	Funded by the British Lung Foundation with sponsorship from the Community	
	Fund (formerly National Lottery Charities Board)	

# ADDITIONAL TABLES

# Table 01. Description of Psychotherapeutic Techniques

Technique	Description
Behavioural therapies	Concerned with identifying the processes by which behaviour has been learned via association, reward or observation and modifying behaviour using methods such as systematic desensitization, selective reinforcement and positive modelling. The behaviour itself, rather than underlying motivations, is the focus of behavioural interventions.
Cognitive therapies	Identification and constructive management of damaging thoughts, such as perceptions of helplessness or inappropriate fear of asthma attack that can trigger episodes. Information (e.g. about the relationship between anxiety and bronchoconstriction) also targets cognitions.
Cognitive behaviour therapy	Using behavioural techniques to change negative thoughts mediating health behaviour. In asthma may address incorrect symptom attributions (over- or under-playing their significance) giving rise to suboptimal medication use, or may use systematic relaxation techniques to extinguish fear responses associated with psychosocial triggers.
Relaxation techniques	Designed to control stress & anxiety. In asthma, may reduce panic or fear & improve breathing and respiratory function. Approaches include progressive relaxation (systematically creating tension and release in different parts of the body and/or via guided mental imagery), autogenic training (focuses on attending to bodily feelings and mentally controlling them), hypnotherapy (deep relaxation that may be induced using mental imagery, often accompanied by autosuggestion to create positive thoughts & feelings), and biofeedback (feedback of biological indicators, such as tracheal noise, which the subject must control via relaxation. May also be considered a behavioural intervention since the feedback can act as a reinforcer).

This review has no graphs.

#### INDEX TERMS

### Medical Subject Headings (MeSH)

Adult; Asthma [psychology]; Health Services Needs and Demand [utilization]; Psychotherapy; Randomized Controlled Trials

# Medical MeSH check words

Humans

	COVER SHEET
Title	Psychotherapeutic interventions for adults with asthma
Authors	Fleming SL, Pagliari C, Churchill R, McKean M, Shuldham CM
Contribution of author(s)	SF and CS developed the protocol and assessed abstracts for potential inclusion in the review. CP offered input on the types of psychological interventions used in the reviews and wrote the description of the psychotherapeutic interventions. RC helped with methodological aspects of the protocol and review. SF and CS analysed the results and wrote up the findings and discussion. MM gave editorial support and guidance throughout.
Issue protocol first published	2000/2
Review first published	2003/3
Date of most recent amendment	21 October 2004
Date of most recent SUBSTANTIVE amendment	24 June 2003
What's New	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies sought but none found	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found but not yet included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date new studies found and included/excluded	Information not supplied by author
Date authors' conclusions section amended	Information not supplied by author
Contact address	Ms Sharon Fleming Head of Nursing Research Department of Nursing and Quality Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Trust Sydney Street London SW3 6NP UK Telephone: +44 020 7351 8841 E-mail: s.fleming@rbh.nthames.nhs.uk Facsimile: +44 020 7351 8836
DOI	10.1002/14651858.CD002982.pub2
Cochrane Library number	CD002982
Editorial group	Cochrane Airways Group
Editorial group code	HM-AIRWAYS

COVER SHEET